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Preface for the 1995 Paperback Edition





What historians know and what the general public knows are often two different things. For many years, at least in the historical profession, it has been commonplace to question Churchill’s judgement both before 1940 and after 1945, but the central pillars of the Churchill legend, his fight against appeasement and his wartime leadership, had generally remained unchallenged, even if parts of them had been discreetly questioned in the decent obscurity of academic journals. Similarly, no one would question the fact that since the Second World War Britain has suffered a traumatic decline from her Great Power status, or that she has, to quote Dean Acheson, ‘lost an Empire and not yet found a role’. Acheson, in fact, only had it half right, Britain had in fact found a role – that of the martyr-hero of 1940. Enshrined in national memory, and bolstered by Churchill’s noble account and by the embellishments of rose-tinted hue which retrospect often lends to events, ‘Their Finest Hour’ was a national myth. To ask what part Churchill’s leader ship had played in the decline of Britain was not done. Still less was anyone asking whether the results of 1945 had been worth the efforts of 1940–45? If anything were more taboo than these things, it was to ask whether some other road than the one actually followed might have been open to the British Government. The reaction to the first edition of this book shows why these questions were not asked.


When a former Government Minister, Alan Clark, wrote a piece for The Times questioning whether Britain might have made peace with Hitler in 1940 or 1941 and, in the course of it, mentioned my forthcoming book, calling it ‘the most important revisionist text to be published since the war’, the heavens seemed to fall. Alan Clark found himself being called a ‘rich goon’ by a fellow Conservative mp, and he and I found ourselves under assault from every conceivable direction. When I had arrived at the Churchill Memorial in Fulton, Missouri, in August, I had been asked whether there was really any more mileage in Churchill: the furore which commenced in January 1993 gave a decisive answer to that question.


There were those who had served in the war who were outraged that a young man should come along and question the version of events which had been so long accepted. The argument that if I had lived through it I would have seen things differently’ was often heard, without the speakers stopping to reflect how silly this was – few of them would have dreamed of saying that ‘you can’t write about the Civil War unless you experienced it’ – but such was the heat of the moment after my book came out that Churchill’s grandson committed himself to the nonsensical statement that if I had lived through it I would have seen things differently. The book attracted leaders in The Times and The Guardian calling for a period of calm reflection and directing people to the book rather than Alan Clark’s article. But even now outraged Churchill worshippers write to their house journal protesting at my existence.


Having had all sorts of intentions imputed to the book, it might be in order to state here what its purpose was. Its genesis lay not in a desire to épater the Churchillians or anyone else, but rather in a decade and half of scholarly interest in the subject. It is some reflection on the general standard of reviewing that not one reviewer pointed out that in 1986 and 1987 I had published two well-received books, Duff Cooper and Lord Lloyd and the Decline of the British Empire, which took a purely orthodox view of appeasement and Churchill’s role in the 1930s. Instead of wild speculation that the author was a ‘Thatcherite historian’ (to be expected, no doubt, of the Independent newspaper), commentators would have been better employed asking why I had changed my tack.


By the time I had finished Lord Lloyd I had become deeply dissatisfied with the orthodox presentation of appeasement. In a review of Duff Cooper’s memoirs written in 1954, Lord Hailsham pointed out that the difference between Cooper’s position on Munich and Chamberlain’s was that the former enjoyed the luxury of not having to formulate an alternative policy. Lloyd and Churchill had opposed home rule for India for the same reason they fought appeasement – they were convinced that British power was extensive enough to maintain the position won by their forefathers. Yet in my teaching I was constantly telling undergraduates that the objective facts showed that Britain did not possess the power necessary to do this. A book was started in 1987 to show this by examining British foreign policy from 1937 to 1945, but as these things do, the project changed in the writing and became Chamberlain and the Lost Peace. Alan Clark wrote a review of it for The Spectator, but the Cabinet Office seemed to think it was inconsistent with his position as a Minister of the Crown and so it never appeared. Chamberlain was, as it turned out, the first of three volumes which set out to examine the accepted version of British foreign policy in the mid-twentieth century. That book questioned the notion that there was something shameful about appeasement; the next volume set out to tackle the notion that Britain had gained something from the Second World War, whilst the third volume would examine the great myth of the Anglo-American special relationship. But things did not work out that way – which was Churchill’s doing. The more Churchill’s behaviour from 1940 to 1945 was studied, the more necessary it became to go back into his past to explain how and why the views he held had been formed; the book turned into a political biography of Churchill.


The usual versions of Churchill implied some great change in him in 1940 and then some equally great reversion to type in 1945. This always appeared unlikely; men of sixty-five do not suddenly change their character. Thus it was necessary to establish, by reference to his earlier career, that the character istics which marked Churchill’s wartime leadership had always been there: the obsessional approach to politics and strategy; the fixation on personality; the tendency, whenever strategy was discussed, to overestimate the effect of any operation he liked and to underrate the difficulties which lay in the way of its execution; the narrowness of focus and of vision; the concentration on the short-term and the contingent; and, above all, the sense of personal mission which invested much of Churchill’s political career, his consciousness of being a ‘glow worm’ in a world of worms. It was also necessary to restore the conservative dimension of Churchill’s character.


Churchill was, in many senses, a quintessential Victorian liberal, who, like many such, found the springs of his liberalism drying up after the Great War. The tale he tells of his education in the excellent My Early Life is barely half the story. He may have been no great shakes as a student, but he had a quick and retentive mind and absorbed many of the intellectual fashions of his youth. He was without formal religious faith, but possessed a vague and undefined belief in Providence – something typical of many young men of his generation. He imbibed unthinkingly liberal nostrums about ‘progress’, ‘freedom’ and ‘democracy’, all of which were defined for him in a way characteristic of the liberalism of John Mill. But once the Great War exploded the idea of ‘progress’ and ‘freedom’ seemed to become licence, Churchill’s essentialy conservative caste of mind stood revealed. This was even more apparent when ‘democracy’ became something which ‘the people’ demanded from below rather than something which was bestowed on them from above by bien peasant aristocrats. Even during his most Liberal phase under the influence of Lloyd George, Churchill had spoken the language of radicalism with an upper-class accent; it was never to him the native tongue which it was to Lloyd George.


Although it passed almost unnoticed in the storm over other things, the portrait of Churchill which emerged from the book restored to him that deep conservatism which many contemporaries noticed. Over India, and over appeasement, his stance was profoundly reactionary. Most orthodox accounts of Churchill’s career take the view that he was wrong and reactionary on India, but right on appeasement; this seemed wrong. If Churchill had not held the views which he did about the British Empire and the imperial mission of the Anglo-Saxon race, then he could hardly have talked in the way he did about Britain’s duty to maintain ‘the balance of power’ in Europe. In both areas Churchill’s were the politics of nostalgia.


One of the features of the book which aroused some criticism was what was taken to be the argument that the British Empire could have been maintained in the form it had in the 1930s; here critics confused Churchill’s arguments with those of the author. Churchill accused Baldwin and company of wanting to surrender the Empire, just as he was later to accuse them of appeasing Hitler from craven motives; in both cases he failed to understand what was going on. It was no accident that the men who were prominent in the late 1930s in trying to carry out the policy of appeasement were, with the exception of Neville Chamberlain, those who, earlier in the decade, had promoted what became the India Act of 1935. Sir John Simon, Sir Samuel Hoare, R.A. Butler and Lord Halifax were all men seized with a knowledge of the fragility of the foundations of imperial power. In India, and later on in Europe, they attempted to construct policies which would preserve Britain’s position in the world.


Common ground to all those mentioned, but not to Churchill, was the view that force was only to be used as a final and self-defeating resort. Except as a sort of back-stop, the British Empire did not rest on force alone – the threat of its use and the example of history were usually enough – provided, of course, no one actually called what was, in fact, a gigantic bluff. In India, British power rested upon the collaboration of local political and social elites; this network, which included over three hundred independent ‘Princely States’, was based on mutual convenience. The British brought stability, honest government and impartiality to the caste-ridden society of a continent riven with religious and other rivalries; in return, the Indians offered Empire on the cheap. There were times, such as during the Great War, when the needs of the Mother Country for ready cash and for troops were so large that they began to impinge upon the Indian elites, which made some of them question the value of British rule. Then of course there were the currents of nationalism as represented by Nehru and Gandhi and their ilk – although, to survey some of the critiques of Empire, one might well imagine that only this last element existed. Matters only became dangerous for the British when the nationalists could attract the sympathy and support of those who usually collaborated to make imperial rule possible. One of the purposes of the Halifax, Simon, Hoare line was to re-enlist the aid of the traditional elites by giving more power in domestic affairs to them. This was a strategy which the British had tried in Iraq and Egypt, and it was the only one which offered any hope of continuing imperial power; it was not yet necessary to use it in Africa, but no doubt it could have been adopted there too. It was a strategy which the Second World War destroyed, and it was in this sense that Churchill’s policy of ‘total war’ for ‘total victory’ helped precipitate the downfall of the Empire.


Churchill’s vision of Empire was that of a subaltern of Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, and his ideas on Britain’s role in Europe were scarcely more up to date. Although British history books liked to present a picture of Britain as a regulator on the balance of power in Europe, men like R.A. Butler refused to believe that there was any ‘traditional British foreign policy’. They noted that Britain had risen to imperial greatness when she had stayed out of large entanglements in European politics. It had eventually been necessary to become involved in the land war in Europe against Napoleon, but that had been financed by buoyant industrial production. The Great War seemed to inculcate the lesson that in modern conditions it was a mistake to get too involved in continental wars. Even then, when had central and eastern Europe ever amounted to a vital British interest? Thus it was that when Hitler began to make his demands for a revision of the Versailles treaty, no one, least of all the British, made any great attempt to reinforce a settlement which was widely held to lack moral validity.


But ‘appeasement’ was a two-pronged policy. Whilst, at least under Chamberlain, there was a search for a settlement with Hitler, there was also a steady policy of rearmament. It was not as spectacular as Churchill wanted, but then nor was it as one-sided as he advocated. Churchill’s proposals concentrated on the air force, and if carried out, would have left Britain with a formidable force of medium-range bombers, which would have been out of date by 1939. Churchill’s proposals would also have left Britain bankrupt – which would hardly have deterred Hitler. Reckless with his own finances, Churchill was equally liberal with those of the Nation. Chamberlain’s rearmament policies, at least until 1938, were designed to make sure that they interfered as little as possible with the needs of everyday commercial and industrial life. Moreover, there was a clear strategy behind Chamberlain’s policy.


Chamberlain was not a weak man pushed by the force of circumstances; he was an obstinate, strong-willed politician who believed that he was bringing order where there had been Baldwin’s policy of drift. He saw clearly that Britain could not afford to have a large army, air force and navy simultaneously – something Churchill never quite grasped. Taking expert advice, Chamberlain opted for the view that the war of the future would essentially be one of movement in which aircraft and the mechanical arm of the army would be important, and it was here that he put his main expenditure. It meant that by 1939 Britian had some of the most modern and effective fighter aircraft in the world as well as a well-equipped modern army. What he could not plan for was what no one could plan for – an inferiority of military leadership. The British and French armies in 1940 were larger than their German counterpart, and they possessed more aircraft and at least as many tanks, but their military doctrine was inferior. The Allies believed in employing tanks to support infantry and thus used them scattered about the Front; the Germans concentrated them in a number of places. The Allied military leadership was essentially static in its approach to warfare, and the British and French generals were no match, as the battle proved, for their German counterparts.


In the long hey-day of the Churchillian version of the 1930s, these facts were conveniently ignored. The failures were put down to the ‘Guilty Men’ and to the pusillanimity which had not stopped Hitler earlier. But it is clear that this wisdom was retrospective. Churchill’s vaunted ‘Grand Alliance’ which he hoped to use to save Czechoslovakia, existed, and could only have existed, in his fertile mind. The Americans were far removed from being ready to join in a European war, and the Russians, whom he suddenly discovered not to be the monsters he had alleged, were, in fact, more feared by the nations of central Europe than the Germans. Even if the Czechs had been willing to accept help from the Soviets, it was not clear how that help would have arrived. The Poles, who had spent fifteen years balancing between their two great neighbours, did not want to take sides; they had their own claims on Czech territory – and a well-justified fear that once Soviet troops entered Poland they might never leave. The other potential members of Churchill’s alliance were more liabilites than assets. Nor did Churchill ever stop to ask himself whether the Czechs and the Slovaks could create a long-term and viable state. As ever, once Churchill had convinced himself that an idea was good, he seldom stopped to ask if it were practicable.


Thus it was that the conventional view of Churchill’s role in the politics of the late 1930s was brought into question. If ‘appeasement’ was no longer a dirty word, if it was instead a policy once practicable and sensible, then why did it all go wrong? Part of the answer lies with Churchill, and part of it with Chamberlain. The latter’s insistence on intervening in the Czech crisis of 1938 left him vulnerable on a number of fronts. In the first, and as it turned out the most important, case, it left Hitler with the abiding impression that, contrary to what he had thought, the British did not intend to leave him alone in central and eastern Europe, which made him decide that he might have to move westwards before he carried out his plans concerning Russia. In the second place it involved Britain in the appearance of trying to maintain some sort of morality in international affairs by insisting that Hitler carry out his ‘promises’; this, in turn, left Chamberlain open to attack by Churchill, now speaking the language of the League of Nations, for not upholding international morality. A policy of isolationism would have avoided this Serbian bog, but once Chamberlain had set foot in it he found that there was no turning back.


The Polish guarantee was a last throw by Chamberlain. If he could convince Hitler to negotiate rather than threaten, then he might yet save face in England in what was very likely to be election year. Fear that this very thing might happen drove Churchill to seek local alliances with the Liberals in his own constituency in the event of a snap election being called. In the event all bets were off as Hitler, fortified by a pact with Stalin, turned west. Chamberlain, who had kept Churchill at arm’s-length as long as there was any chance of preserving peace, now took him into the Cabinet.


Thus it was that Churchill’s policy actually prevailed. It is no good arguing this was ‘too late’, as this involves accepting the myth that Churchill’s proposals for British rearmament would have influenced the outcome of the campaign in western Europe in 1940. If they had done so, it would have been in a negative sense. Churchill, like Chamberlain (but unlike Duff Cooper), had been obsessed with air power to the neglect of the army; almost alone among leading politicians, Cooper had argued for a large continental-sized army before 1938–39, and only this could have influenced events in 1940. The fact was that in 1940 the Germans proved themselves, tactically and strategically, more than a match for Britain and France. This should have come as no surprise. Between 1914 and 1918 the Germans had held superior forces at bay and had almost won. The Germans valued the military virtues in a way Britain and France did not. It need occasion no surprise that when the test came the Germans were better soldiers. This had been obscured by the lazy acceptance of the fact that the ‘guilty men’ were to blame for 1940; they were not – except in so far as they represented the society which produced them only too accurately.


If Churchill had not been, in some mysterious way, ‘right’ in the 1930s, it became less difficult to recognise that he had made many mistakes during the war. The focus of the book was not on individual errors – anyone might be excused those – but rather upon his grand strategy.


It was argued by his admirers that his sacrifices to the Americans were worth it because they brought America into the war. This was another myth. The Americans were not about to enter the war in December 1941, as Churchill’s despair in November showed. They came in because they were forced to, just as the Soviets had done; only the British and the French were mad enough to volunteer for World War II. The argument that the British nevertheless benefited from their contact with the Americans in the period after the war was one which had to wait for another book – Churchill’s Grand Alliance; here the concern was with the consequences of Churchill’s obsessiveness. Eden wanted to make plans for post-war foreign policy, just as men like Beveridge and R.A. Butler wanted to make plans for the home front; Churchill not only took no interest in such things, but he discouraged others from doing so. He did the same when it came to the future of the Conservative Party. In short he mortgaged the future to others. In international affairs it was the Soviets and the Americans who divided the world between them; in domestic politics it was the socialists who reaped the benefits of the efforts of the Great Coalition. It may be that nothing could have prevented these things, but Churchill never even made the effort.


When discussing a victorious Power in undergraduate seminars it is usual to sum up the gains at the end of a war; in Britain’s case in 1945 this was difficult. Germany had been defeated and Nazism extirpated, but most of the work here had been done by the Soviets, and the consequent growth of Communist power did nothing to make the world safe for democracy or freer – two objectives of the western Powers. The war did make the British feel better about themselves and it gave them a comfort blanket to wrap around themselves as the chill winds of post-war decline blew; indeed the very myths of ‘victory’ may well have contributed to that decline by encouraging British complacence.


By the time of Churchill’s death the reality of Britain’s condition was becoming clear, yet the nation basked in its mythological past instead of asking whether the great man had played any part in the current state of affairs. By asking this question the author invited an avalanche of abuse – some of it reasoned. But if historians have any useful function in society, it is not on their knees worshipping the past and being blinded by the haloes of the Churchills of this world. They should ask serious, if unpopular, questions. The difference between what follows and much of the criticism directed at it is that this book makes no claims to pontifical status. Still, it stirred up a debate which shows no sign of stopping, and that can only be a good thing, for Churchill and for history in general. I like to think that the Churchill who emerges from these pages is a good deal more interesting than the plaster saint of the official biography.


JOHN CHARMLEY


January 1995



















Introduction





At the time I was only aware that somebody terrifically important had died; it reminded me of President Kennedy’s death, but it was somehow different. I had heard of Churchill. He was the man my father always mentioned whenever he talked about his time in somewhere called the ‘western desert’ during ‘the war’. My grandmother talked about Churchill in terms usually reserved for The Almighty; my father criticised him in the way he did most ‘Tory politicians’. The concept of a ‘Tory politician’ being spoken of in terms of hushed reverence was not one which I could grasp; maybe Churchill was The Almighty? My mother, who had been about the age I was then when ‘the war’ broke out, recalled listening to Churchill’s marvellous speeches in 1940, and he had, I was told by other relatives, ‘won the war’. Was he perhaps that ‘Lord God mighty in battle’ of whom my grandmother spoke? Nine-year-old boys collect information about the past in a jumbled fashion.


That was my introduction to Churchill – the day of his great state funeral. Having been born seven months after he had ceased to be Prime Minister, there were no memories of the deity as living man; he was always history to me. He had ‘saved England’ and ‘won the war’, and since these were undeniably good things, Churchill was a ‘good thing’; I was all in favour of him.


There matters rested until I began to do historical research. Since my Modern History course stopped in 1939, I came across Churchill only through the medium of his career before that date; Robert Rhodes James easily convinced me that that had been ‘a study in failure’. Because I was working on British policy towards General de Gaulle, I came across Churchill frequently. The picture which emerged from my work did not fit the Churchill whom I had ‘inherited’. Working on Duff Cooper’s biography served to confirm Rhodes James’s picture and also suggested that 1940–5 might not have been as simple as I had been led to believe. When I worked on Lord Lloyd’s biography, I came to have more sympathy for and understanding of Churchill’s attitude towards the Empire; but the triumphalist tone which I had adopted towards Munich became clouded. As more work was done on the period 1937–41, it became apparent that the picture of Churchill which had begun to emerge from my thesis was replicated elsewhere. Churchill was as fallible as he had been before the war. Editing Sir Evelyn Shuckburgh’s diaries certainly confirmed the existing view of most scholars that Churchill had not been up to the job after about 1952. Trying to write a book on some of these things led to one on Chamberlain instead. He, so it seemed, had offered the only way of preserving what was left of British power; if 1945 represented ‘victory’, it was, as Chamberlain had foreseen, for the Soviets and the Americans.


To write about 1940 and Churchill meant going back to explain how the man of 1940 had been created. Naïvely, I thought that this would be an easy task; I had taught a Special Subject on him for some years. But as I pulled together the material which I had collected, something changed. Churchill ceased to be an ‘historical figure’. He had become an iconic Prime Minister, but he was never an icon in real life; indeed, no one can be that. It became a matter of getting the icon off the shelf and of trying to discern the lineaments of the living man.


Historians should normally stick to writing in the third person if they have to mention themselves, but in a book of this nature I thought that a note on how it came to be written would not be out of place.


The Churchill who emerged from this work was not the one I had expected. The idea of the ‘great man’ is not one which exercises historians much any more, only feminist historians look to the past for ‘role-models’; but by any definition Churchill remained a ‘great man’. If you take his own definition literally, that a man’s actions must profoundly affect both his own and subsequent generations, this would allow monsters like Hitler and Stalin into the ‘club’, which would not have pleased him. But inherent in Churchill’s idea of the ‘great man’ was the idea of virtuous action – that the figure concerned should have risen to the ‘level of events’. The Churchill delineated here did so only intermittently, but he did so with such magnificence in 1940 that, at least in the eyes of his contemporaries, all else was forgiven. What was there to be said about the political skill of a professional politician who repeatedly found himself in some sort of ‘wilderness’, and whose personality in itself constituted a formidable obstacle to success? He was, as Harold Macmillan acknowledged, ‘romantic and reactionary’. His part in the Dardanelles fiasco warranted the distrust which it aroused in contemporaries; Churchill did underestimate the obstacles in the way of success and he did treat the lives of men with undue levity.


That his ‘first political career’ ended as it did was due to Churchill’s own choice. There was no pressure on him to resign in November 1915; he chose to go. Had he waited, perhaps Lloyd George would have taken him in before 1917. For Churchill the post-war decades were to prove the worst part of a ‘disappointing’ twentieth century, and he spent much of his time inveighing against the decline in British power. Yet, when he came to wield that power, he found what those whom he had criticised had found in their turn – that Britain was no longer a Great Power. Churchill chose to behave as though this was not the case. In the summer of 1940 Churchill’s vision and the ghost of Britain’s faded grandeur met for one last moment of glory; after that the twilight fell. At the end it was a melancholy story which emerged. There was nothing to be done by 1945, but action earlier might have averted the worst. At the end of the day there were no ‘sun-lit uplands’, only a ‘darkling plain’ where ‘ignorant armies clash by night’. In the long story of British decline the part played by a failure of leadership has yet to be properly told, but that there was such a failure is hardly in doubt. Churchill’s leadership was inspiring, but at the end it was barren, it led nowhere, and there were no heirs to his tradition.
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Glad Confident Morning 1874–1915
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The Subaltern’s Star





Writing to his sister Ida on 2 November 1930, the Conservative statesman, Sir Austen Chamberlain, commented: ‘Winston’s My Early Life is very good reading. Don’t miss it’;1 it was, and she did not. The book was a great success, not least because, as one of Churchill’s old army friends, Sir Reginald Barnes, pointed out: ‘It shows the world the human and cheery Winston that I know, but which so many know nothing of.’2 Churchill was in his fifty-sixth year before such a ‘human’ portrait of him reached that wider public whose attention he had always sought; so how was it that another picture of him had become fixed in the public mind? The answer requires us to go behind the Boys’ Own paper adventure yarn which comprises My Early Life.


As family mottos go, that of the Marlboroughs, ‘Fiel Pero Desdichado’, ‘Faithful but Unfortunate’, was singularly inappropriate. The first Duke of Marlborough and founder of the family’s fortune was the greatest soldier of the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries. But as every Victorian schoolboy knew, thanks to the writings of Lord Macaulay, the most eminent as well as the most readable of Whig historians, ‘Duke John’ was not noted for his fidelity to anything save his own career, a characteristic later historians have not hesitated to ascribe to his most illustrious descendant. The last example of a type common in the sixteenth century and earlier, John Churchill was a courtier-soldier who rose through royal favour; in this case purchased at the price of the honour of his sister Arabella, who was the mistress of James, Duke of York. Having thus risen, he abandoned his patron, now King James II, after William of Orange invaded England. He then proceeded to keep open a line to the exiled court at St Germain, just in case it should be necessary to desert the new monarchs, William III and Mary. This was Macaulay’s picture, and even when Winston Churchill came to challenge it, there were times when he had to admit that the first Duke’s behaviour was almost incomprehensible.3


So much for ‘faithful’. Inhabiting a marvellous Italianate palace in the middle of thousands of acres of the finest English countryside can hardly be described as being ‘unfortunate’. ‘Undistinguished’ would be the kindest word to apply to Marlborough’s descendants. Leaving no sons, the great Duke’s title passed by the female line into a branch of the Spencer family of Althorp. In the reign of George III the family was given permission to resurrect the name of ‘Churchill’; but the ‘Spencer-Churchills’ proved no livelier for it. In so far as a duke possessed of a palace on the scale of Blenheim can be said to live in the obscurity conferred by mediocrity, generations of Marlboroughs managed so to do; the dimness of their fame being lit only by the occasional roué who managed to dissipate more of the family fortune than his predecessors.


It was into this line of dim dukes that Winston Spencer-Churchill was born on 30 November 1874. His father, in deference to his well-known view that mediocrity lurked behind double-barrelled names, was always known as Lord Randolph Churchill. The second son of the seventh Duke of Marlborough, he was the first of his line since its founder to detain the interest of his historically minded son. Winston Churchill certainly had respect for pedigrees which were hallowed by antiquity, but he preferred those who did great things to those who lived in the shadow of a great name. Lord Randolph certainly fitted the bill. His career merited the epithet, meteoric. A political unknown before 1880, by 1886 he was Chancellor of the Exchequer and he was spoken of by some as the next Conservative Prime Minister. The most popular platform orator in the Conservative Party, he was the only Tory who could meet the great Gladstone on his own ground with advantage. His enemies called him unprincipled, and even his leader, the third Marquess of Salisbury, bore him little love. Known, not least through his own speeches, as the advocate of ‘Tory Democracy’, there was some doubt as to what the term meant. ‘A democracy which votes Tory’ was the cynic’s favourite; and it was certain that a policy which advocated more social reform did not have for its purpose the spurning of the votes of those who had received the franchise in 1867 and 1884. So Salisbury, acknowledging the need for the votes, bore with the erratic and wayward Lord Randolph, until he resigned in December 1886 in protest at what he considered excessive estimates for spending on the Navy. Salisbury jumped at the chance to rid himself of a colleague he had neither liked nor trusted. Lord Randolph fell like Lucifer, never to rise again.


In his life of Lord Randolph, Winston Churchill discerned a more serious purpose to his career than has found favour with later historians, who have generally concluded that ‘Tory Democracy’ was a device by which Lord Randolph could further his own position. But the fact that Lord Randolph’s son could not write of him as a mere adventurer was due to more than filial piety; by the time he wrote his father’s biography, the son himself was accused of similar proclivities, and in providing Lord Randolph with an alibi, Winston Churchill gave himself one too.


For the Victorians it was important to be earnest: morals, religion and politics, all were spheres in which public adherence to a code of strict ethical probity was not simply desirable, but essential. Those unwise enough to mock this convention by appearing to treat political life with the degree of levity which the modern age accords it were apt to suffer the consequence of being thought at best lightweight, and at worst mere adventurers. It took the great Disraeli a generation to live down his youthful debts and his Society novels; Lord Randolph, in imitating him, incurred similar censure. Winston Churchill, who admired both men, fell under the same Dundreary-whiskered suspicion. If we decline to adopt the strict distinction between adventure and high principle which is at the root of this Victorian dichotomy, then some understanding of the roots of Winston Churchill’s political career is possible.


‘You know I have unbounded faith in myself,’ Churchill wrote to one of his aunts in May 1898.4 It was as well that he had, for at the time he wrote he was a subaltern in the Fourth Hussars, which was hardly the obvious starting place for a political career which envisaged the highest office. Like many famous men, Churchill was fond of enlarging the obstacles which stood in the way of his success. By doing so he magnified the character of that success. Out of nearly three hundred Conservative MPs in 1914, fifty-three, or nearly twenty per cent, had served in the Army, the largest number in any occupation save for barristers. But few such men aimed for, or reached, even Cabinet level. Besides, in 1914, Churchill was a Liberal MP – and only fifteen Liberal MPs (less than nine per cent of the total) came from such a background.5 So, here is another question to answer: why did Churchill go into politics, and why, having done so, did he change his Party? The question of why, having changed Party, he was so successful can wait its turn.


To many observers of the young man’s career the answer to the first two questions was straightforward. He went into politics for the same reason that he switched Party: he was intensely ambitious.6 Churchill himself once wrote that ‘ambition stirs imagination nearly as much as imagination excites ambition’.7 Although he applied the aphorism to the Mahdi, who defeated General Gordon at Khartoum, many would have applied it to Churchill himself. In so doing they might also have recalled Lord Salisbury’s comparison of Lord Randolph and the Mahdi: ‘The latter is sane but pretends to be half-mad, whilst the former occupies precisely the opposite position’; comparing Churchills with charismatic religious leaders came naturally to some. Ambition was (and still is) disapproved of in British politics; that is to say that overt ambition is thought to be a plant which needs heavy pruning. The intenseness of Churchill’s ambition has been variously attributed to his half-American ancestry (‘Half-alien and wholly undesirable’, as Lady Astor put it), his unconscious need to prove himself to his disapproving father,8 or a psychological need to fight off his ‘black dog’ – the moods of depression which, at times, came near to overwhelming his vitality.9


Churchill disliked psychiatrists10 and was not given to analytical introspection. He simply accepted that ‘from the beginning “personal distinction” was his goal’.11 His son, Randolph Churchill, took a similarly robust view in his first volume of the official biography, the theme of which was how ‘an underesteemed boy of genius of noble character and daring spirit’ seized opportunities to rise in the world.12 There is something to be said for most of the explanations canvassed above. His mother, Jennie Jerome, certainly infused into the Churchill blood-line a more robust strain than it had exhibited for generations – even if it only showed in Winston. That Lord Randolph alternately neglected and scolded his son is as clear as the son’s desire for parental approval; even towards the end of his life Churchill could dream vividly about the desire to win his father’s favour. Churchill was always conscious of being something of an outsider, a ‘red-haired urchin cocking a snook at anyone who got in his way’.13 This might be thought an odd emotion for one who was born, if not into the purple, then into the top echelon of English Society; but there can be no doubt that it was genuine.


Churchill’s earliest memories were of the Vice-regal lodge in Phoenix Park, Dublin, where his grandfather was Viceroy. His aunt, Lady Leslie, could write, a lifetime later, about fond memories of little Winston and his nurse, Mrs Everest, ‘waddling after you’ in idyllic by-gone days,14 but it may be that Churchill’s sense of being an outsider derived from this time. He was in Ireland because his father was there as secretary to his grandfather; and they were all there because of Lord Randolph’s foolish impetuosity. After his marriage to the glittering and beautiful Jennie in 1872, Society should have been at Lord Randolph’s feet; instead, through his own actions, it was soon at his throat.


The first part of the family motto could never have been applied to the private lives of Lord Randolph and his brother, the Marquess of Blandford. When the latter was in danger of being cited as co-respondent by Lord Aylesford who wished to divorce his unfaithful wife, Lord Randolph hit upon what seemed at the time the capital idea of getting Aylesford’s best friend to persuade him to withdraw the case; this he did by telling the friend’s wife that he possessed letters which implicated her husband in an affair with Lady Aylesford. It was the action of a cad, but when the friend was the Prince of Wales, it was more than a crime, it was folly. The Prince ostracised the Randolph Churchills, and Society followed his lead. Disraeli prevailed upon the Duke of Marlborough to accept the post of Viceroy of Ireland, which enabled him to take Randolph into what amounted to exile. It was a bitter blow to the newly-wed Lord Randolph, and seems to have inspired in him a desire for revenge.15 Winston lacked his father’s bitterness, but inherited a similar role as a species of political outlaw.


But parental neglect, which was compensated for in some measure by the love of his nurse, to whom he paid generous homage in his only novel, can cut more than one way. ‘Solitary trees,’ Churchill wrote, ‘if they grow at all, grow strong … a boy deprived of a father’s care often develops, if he escape the perils of youth, an independence and vigour of thought which may restore in after life the heavy loss of early days.’16 Used of the Mahdi, these words have about them an autobiographical ring. A small, befreckled, under-sized, ginger-haired runt of a boy, who came to his first English school possessed of a lisp and few friends, Churchill was a natural target for bullies. But in the first sign of the willpower which was to carry him through many trials, Churchill ‘set out to make himself tough and unfeeling’.17 His doctor, Lord Moran, was right to ‘marvel at his will’.18 From his earliest days this distinguished him from his quiet and well-behaved brother, Jack. Where the latter was ‘not a bit of trouble’,19 Winston was in need of a ‘firm hand’ on account of his extreme stubbornness and self-will.20


As these comments of his grandmother’s imply, such behaviour, whilst an object of admiration in a world-famous statesman, was less admirable in a growing child. To Lord Randolph it was quite intolerable that his son should not be a credit to him. He lacked the detachment to have been capable of the comment that with himself and Lady Randolph behaving like stubborn and self-willed children, there was no room in the family for anyone else to exhibit such behaviour patterns. Mathematics is of limited value to the biographer, and the fact that Winston was born only seven months after his parents’ marriage does not necessarily suggest that he was the reason for what was an extremely rushed courtship. Lord Randolph was an impulsive man, had known Miss Jerome for a year and had been determined to marry her almost from the moment he met her. Whether this haste was the product, as this suggests, of passion, or whether the passion precipitated the haste, may be left to those with a taste for such speculation. But it appears probable that it was in this haste that the seeds of the disintegration of the marriage lay. Preoccupied each with their own life, the only time which Churchill’s parents possessed for their son was to complain about him.


From the time Winston Churchill entered Harrow in April 1888, to the time he left it in December 1892, his career was a wearisome catalogue of complaints from his father, prompted in the main by comments from his masters, which were, in turn, the product of his own behaviour. Like his father, young Winston was adept at behaving in a manner calculated to offend against the rules which governed late-Victorian society. Lord Randolph, despite his own shortcomings (or perhaps because of them) was little pleased to be told that Winston was a model of ‘forgetfulness, carelessness, unpunctuality, and irregularity in every way’. What made such reports even worse was the conviction of some of Winston’s masters that ‘as far as ability goes he ought to be at the top of his form, whereas he is at the bottom’.21 In all of this he was little different from his father, but the sins that had been excusable in the younger son of a duke were unforgivable in the son of a younger son who would have to rely more upon his own talents to make a way in the world.


To trace the young Churchill down the channels of his scapegrace days is an exercise leading to little profit. Most of the accounts of his days at Harrow date from the time of his greatest fame, when the story fostered by Churchill in My Early Life was adopted by the grateful nostalgia of the elderly. Thus Churchill’s own self-portrait of a bright youth who could not fit into an over-rigid system of education was supported by remarks such as these by Sir Cyril Norwood, then President of St John’s College, Oxford, who wrote in 1941 that 




The little Churchill was a tough proposition for any organised system of education. He wanted to get into the Army. His compulsory subjects were Mathematics, Latin and English, and of these, if English was a walk-over, it remained true that he could not, or would not, learn Latin, and he could not, or would not, learn Mathematics.22





Churchill was able to conceal his lack of progress in Latin, at least for a while, by getting a senior boy to do his work in return for providing him with essays in English. ‘It all began, he later told Lord Moran, ‘at Harrow, where he discovered ‘that he could do what other boys could not do – he could write’.23


Churchill’s own account, which cheered many of his contemporaries in 1930, who told him of their own similar experiences, was designed to demonstrate that it was the system, and not himself, which had failed. He regaled his readers with accounts of the three masters, Somervell, Moriarty and Mayo, who managed to make something of him. But as the first two taught him the only subjects in which he evinced both interest and talent, English, History and fencing, this need occasion no surprise, and it strengthens the suspicion that Churchill’s problems were of his own making. Mayo must have been a remarkable teacher – it was he who succeeded in drilling the rudiments of mathematics into the recalcitrant youth.24


If, as Churchill would have us believe, it was his father who decided that he should enter the Army, then it was not against the will of his son – far from it. Churchill expressed his regret for the effect which entry into the Army class at Harrow had upon his education, cutting him off from the classical curriculum which still dominated higher education in Britain.25 But the young Winston does not seem to have regretted the passing of amo, amas or even amat, whilst Lord Randolph’s only regret was that his brat was too stupid to pass into the infantry class at Sandhurst. Hearing of his son’s failure, Lord Randolph, who had complained that ‘if you were a millionaire you could not be more extravagant’,26 considered trying to find him a career ‘in business’.27 Canon Welldon, his Headmaster at Harrow, helped save him from such a fate when, after Winston once more failed the examination in early 1893, he advised Lord Randolph to send him to a crammer.28


Churchill was fortunate that he was able to go to the crammer. During his vacation, whilst playing a game of hide-and-seek, he had, when cornered, flung himself from a bridge thirty feet above the ground, hoping that the trees would break his fall; later observers of his political career might see a certain symbolism here and wonder whether his judgment ever improved. His doctors at the time pronounced him a fortunate young man to survive. But the incident is worth noting, if only for the fact that it exhibited two of the characteristics which were most marked in his nature: an extreme stubbornness; and a constitution which was, appearances to the contrary, exceedingly tough – in less than two months he was back cramming for his exams, despite the serious nature of his injuries.29


Lord Randolph, whose health was now deteriorating rapidly, was less impressed by any of this than he was disappointed when Winston only did well enough to pass into the cavalry. This would cost him about £200 a year more, and all for what? He unburdened himself in a bitter letter to his mother, in which his frustration with all his son’s promises to reform and do better broke out. It was, perhaps, a sign of his mental state that he could write that an expensive education at Harrow and Eton had done nothing for Winston, but there was nothing confused about his peevish complaint: ‘I have told you often and you never would believe me that he has little [claim] to cleverness, to knowledge or any capacity for settled work. He has great talent for show off exaggeration and make believe.’30 That he might have inherited just these qualities from Lord Randolph himself cannot have commended him to a bitterly disappointed father.


In his anger and frustration, Lord Randolph launched a stern warning at young Winston. His performance was stigmatised as ‘disreputable, his style of work as ‘slovenly happy-go-lucky’ and ‘harum-scarum’, and his general conduct was castigated. Coming very close to washing his hands of his son, Lord Randolph warned him that ‘I no longer attach the slightest weight to anything you may say about your own acquirements and exploits.’ If Winston continued to lead ‘the idle useless unprofitable life’ he had hithertofore led, ‘you will become a mere social wastrel, one of the hundreds of the public school failures’. The ‘shabby unhappy and futile existence’ which Lord Randolph prophesied for Winston was exactly what he had come to himself – it was no wonder that his message was expressed so fiercely and with such bitterness.31


It is only with hindsight that Lord Randolph’s fears seem ludicrous. Despite their undoubted talents, both he and his brother amounted, in practice, to ‘mere social wastrels’, and the Marlborough past provided many other examples of the genus; nor were the Jeromes renowned for the regularity of their lives. Moreover, the next few years were to see Winston sail pretty close to the wind in his financial and personal affairs.


Lord Randolph died a poor man, ruined by his own extravagances and bank-rolled by his Jewish friends, the Rothschilds and the Cassells. Lady Randolph’s style of life was not calculated to produce financial surpluses. So it need occasion no surprise that their son found it difficult to manage his finances. Whilst he was still at Sandhurst, Winston had been warned by his mother that ‘you are spending too much money’ and ‘really must not go on like this’.32 The very frequency with which this complaint was to be reiterated over the six years after 1894 is evidence of how close young Winston came to the fate which his father had feared.


The Fourth Hussars was an expensive regiment, and Churchill lived in the fastest set, finding himself both in financial trouble and accused of participating in the bullying of subalterns from humbler backgrounds.33 Speaking frankly to his mother in 1898, he wrote that ‘there is no doubt that we are both … equally thoughtless – spendthrift and extravagant’; he was equally perceptive in noting that ‘we both know what is good and we both like to have it. Arrangements for paying are left for the future.’34 What he did not propose was any way of dealing with the situation. He was, and remained, easily satisfied with the best of everything, and his attitude towards finance was always Whiggish in the extreme.


But his mother, for all her extravagance, always had first call upon her devoted son. But in return, she did her best to foster his prospects. Soldiering in the late-Victorian era, at least for those of Churchill’s class, had about it a good deal of the air of a prolonged adventure. Those with good contacts could use them to secure postings to ‘interesting’ billets, and Lady Randolph was second to none in pulling strings. But young Winston was not merely looking for adventure in the field. He had nurtured hopes that despite his father’s disapproval, he might yet soften his heart by entering politics and working with him. But Churchill was over-romanticising when he wrote My Early Life; as long as Lord Randolph lived, he would go on being regarded as ‘that boy’.35 His father’s early death removed this shadow and provided instead a myth: ‘There remained for me only to pursue his aims and vindicate his memory.’36 The shadow provided more encouragement than the reality ever could have done. ‘Polities’, he told his mother in August 1895, was a ‘fine game to play’ and it was ‘well worth waiting for a good hand – before really plunging’; soldiering, however pleasant an occupation was not, he now felt, ‘my métier’.37


But even as this ambition burgeoned, Churchill was painfully aware that finance was not the only obstacle in its way. His habitual optimism concerning money prevented that subject circumscribing him, but the other difficulty was not so easily surmounted. Thus far his education had been ‘purely technical’ and, as a result, he felt that ‘my mind has never received that polish which for instance Oxford or Cambridge gives’.38 This sense of being inadequately educated was to persevere, and even when he was appointed to his first Ministerial post he would write to his old history master that, ‘I fear I am sadly lacking in scholarly education.’39


The story of how Churchill battled to overcome this handicap is, justly, one of the most famous in My Early Life. Posted to India in 1895, he spent the afternoons reading in his tent whilst his peers slept or played cards. As early as August 1895 he set himself the tasks of acquiring the rudiments of political economy as well as reading Gibbon and Lecky.40 He had taken himself off into the Army and, with his father’s death, had decided that that was a false move; so he now proceeded to create himself in the image of his father – as far as that was possible. He learnt Lord Randolph’s speeches by heart and, through reading Hansard and the Annual Register, he came to be familiar with the political era which his father had adorned. The Army was to be a springboard, not a sofa.


The caste of mind created by this autodidact’s education will be considered in the next chapter. Here we are concerned with the efforts which the young subaltern made to ensure that he became famous. With his mother’s social contacts, Churchill tried to be posted to areas where he could be expected to see military action. This was not because he was a brave soldier (although he was); action provided two routes to fame: the swift one attained through some glorious feat of arms; and the slower but safer one of writing about the campaigns he had seen. The appetite of the late Victorians for heroes and heroics was formidable, and it found satisfaction in reports from the far-flung battle-lines where thin red lines of ‘’eroes’ defended the ramparts of Empire. If, as in 1895, Churchill could not get himself to the North-West Frontier, then he was quite willing to undergo his baptism of fire elsewhere – provided he could write about it for the press. Of course there was always the possibility that he would be killed, but he did not think that likely: ‘the fact of having seen service with British troops while still a young man must give me more weight politically’; and ‘besides this I think I am of an adventurous disposition and shall enjoy myself’.41


His first adventure was one which he organised himself in late 1895, when he obtained leave to go to Cuba, where he witnessed the war between the Americans and the Cuban rebels. He enjoyed Cuba, where he celebrated his twenty-first birthday by coming under fire for the first time, and he found America exhilarating: ‘a great crude, strong young people … like a boisterous healthy boy among enervated but well-bred ladies and gentlemen’.42 It was a description which many would have applied to Lieutenant Churchill. Writing about campaigns was something which some soldiers did, but gallivanting off to some foreign war, and then writing about it for the Daily Graphic with all the exuberant self-confidence at his command, was an exercise which brought mixed results.


It certainly brought the name of Winston Churchill to a wider public, and Lady Randolph made sure that her important political friends noticed the articles, and arranged for her son to meet the great men of the Conservative Party, such as the Colonial Secretary, Joseph Chamberlain. Because of Lord Randolph’s early death, his contemporaries were still in positions of power, and his son was more than willing to satisfy their curiosity to meet ‘Randolph’s boy’.43 This use of his family connections to push himself into places where more conventional souls might have held that he had no business, his easy assumption that such favours were his due, and his unsoldierly excursions into journalism, were all essential components of what amounted to a personal public-relations exercise; but what the young Churchill was blind to was the effect it would all have on other people. Consideration for the feelings of others was something which he never did acquire. Henry Herbert Asquith, who as Liberal Prime Minister did more than anyone to foster Churchill’s career, caught this exactly when he wrote: ‘He never fairly gets alongside the person he is talking to, because he is so much more interested in himself and his own preoccupations … than in anything his neighbour has to contribute.’44  The very characteristics which enabled him to push himself were equally those which raised obstacles in his path. Ambition and youth, like the ankles of a lady, were likely to arouse passions unless decorously concealed – and Churchill was seldom able to conceal anything, least of all the ambition which drove him.


But regular soldiering could not be avoided, and in September 1896 he set off with his regiment for India. Churchill did not like India. Although his father had briefly been its Secretary of State, Winston had few influential contacts there and felt far from the centre of the Empire.45 All it did offer was a prospect of involvement in some border skirmish, polo, and the chance to enjoy a life of luxury on the cheap. To most of his contemporaries this was sufficient, but Churchill used the long periods of idleness to further his programme of reading. Gibbon and Macaulay would improve his prose style, Hansard and the National Register would give depth to the knowledge of recent politics which a study of his father’s speeches had begun. Lord Randolph’s example, like that of Lord Chatham who had led England to victory in the Seven Years’ War, convinced the young Churchill that, far from being the harlot of the political arts, oratory gave its possessor ‘a power more durable than that of a great king’; as Chatham’s example had shown, the orator could survive any political setback, for whoever commanded its power would always be ‘formidable’. Churchill determined to master it, despite the fact that, like his father, he suffered from a curious inability to enunciate the letter ‘s’ clearly; it was not quite a lisp, but it sounded like one.46 Long hours practising in front of mirrors, declaiming speeches which he had committed to memory, bore witness to Churchill’s determination to succeed. He comforted himself with the reflection that ‘rhetorical power is neither wholly bestowed, nor wholly acquired, but cultivated’. He was sure that the talent was his ‘by nature’ and that all he needed was to practise the art to make it his chief weapon.47


If Churchill was training his memory and his tongue, he was also acquiring through his programme of reading a caste of mind which was to remain recognisably late-Victorian. His own experiences left him with great sympathy for adult education: ‘these are the very people who ought to be helped – because they are helping themselves far more than a stodgy boy of fourteen, sulkily reading his lessons’.48 But the defect in Churchill’s own programme was that it was self-education with a limited purpose; it provided no training in learning how to think, how to weigh arguments, and how to judge your own ideas against those of others. In one sense this was an advantage, for it gave a freshness and enthusiasm to his speaking and writing which was appealing. But in another sense it was a defect. The ideas he accumulated he retained, and he did not find it easy to adapt them to later changes. But what were these ideas?
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A Victorian Frame of Mind





Most self-made men are well satisfied with the product of their labours, and Churchill was no exception. To those who accused him of changing his mind, he would reply that, on the contrary, he had seldom changed; it was the political Parties to which he had belonged who had changed.1 He never stopped to ask himself whether his own inability to change was a good or a bad thing. But by the time My Early Life was published in 1930, the world it depicted had all but vanished, and to be endowed still with its caste of mind was not necessarily an advantage. As Leo Amery, his older contemporary at Harrow, noted in 1929: ‘The key to Winston is to realise that he is Mid-Victorian, steeped in the politics of his father’s period, and unable ever to get the modern point of view.’2


Modern literary critics seem to have little truck with the idea that the hero of a novel speaks the words of his author, but as they also have little truck with Churchill, their opinion need not detain us. Churchill told his mother in 1897 that ‘all my philosophy is put into the mouth of my hero’;3 we may thus read his only novel Savrola to discern the caste of mind inculcated by all that reading in the hot Indian afternoons. Savrola’s bookshelves, unsurprisingly, were identical to those of Lieutenant Churchill: ‘the philosophy of Schopenhauer divided Kant from Hegel’, whilst Gibbon, Macaulay, Darwin and the Bible all jostled them for space.4 The ‘armour of his philosophy’ which Savrola, the leader of the forces of liberty, donned in order to gaze ‘at the world as from a distance’,5 amounted, in practice, to what one historian has called ‘a pagan mish-mash’6 – or, in Churchill’s own description, ‘the sad, cynical, evolutionary philosophy which is so characteristic of modern thought and which claims a good deal of my sympathy’.7


That ‘sea of faith’, the ebb of which Matthew Arnold caught so hauntingly in Dover Beach, had receded even further by Churchill’s youth, and the reading upon which he embarked did nothing to reverse the process for the young subaltern. The deism and Augustan disdain for religion in general and Christianity in particular, which he derived from Gibbon, was well expressed in his description of the plight of Lieutenant Tiro, who, in a crisis, found that ‘his religion, like that of most soldiers, was of little help; it was merely a jumble of formulas, seldom repeated, hardly understood and never investigated’.8


These Gibbonian resonances were reinforced by his reading of that minor classic of humanistic atheism, The Martyrdom of Man by Winwood Reade. Reade, drawing upon T. H. Huxley and other popularisers of Darwin, drew conclusions from the theory of evolution which its best-known discoverer failed to do. The implications of Darwin’s theories were bleak, especially to generations schooled in the naturalistic theology of Paley and soothed by the pantheism of Wordsworth. Suddenly, in place of a beneficent nature and a caring God, Man was alone in the universe. Not only that, his place in the order of things was no different from that of any other species – for, as Tennyson put it, nature was ‘careless of the individual, so careful of the type’. The purpose of existence was nothing more than to perpetuate the species – ethics, morals, religion, all these were no more than man-made comforters; man was no more than an ‘infant crying in the night’ and an ‘infant crying for the light’. But men like Huxley and Reade were too much children of their age to be satisfied with the anarchic implications of such a situation – and where Thomas Hardy could write about such a world, they needed to alleviate pessimism and reinforce morality with a ‘scientific’ explanation.9


Reade’s explanation carried total conviction with Churchill. Although, like Reade, he could not escape visions of the bleak side of evolutionary theory, he used them to strike Byronic poses. There were times when, like Savrola as he contemplated the deaths which his revolution would cause, Churchill was tempted to ask ‘What was the good of it all?’, and to get no reassuring answer back;10 in the end the universe would die and be ‘sepulchered in the cold darkness of negation’.11 But despite this, and the insignificance of the individual, there was more purpose to life than those who held that might was right could comprehend. Like Huxley, Churchill found that purpose in the belief that ‘organisms imbued with moral fitness would ultimately rise above those whose virtue is physical’; the ‘motive force’ in the universe was ‘constant’ and its tendency was upwards – civilisation would triumph over barbarism because its ‘virtues’ were ‘of a higher type’, and it was the morally ‘fittest’ who would survive: ‘we cannot say that a good man will always overcome a knave; but the evolutionist will not hesitate to affirm that the nation with the highest ideals will succeed’.12


All Churchill’s other reading reinforced this humanistic Darwinism, and when it was combined with the view of English history which he drew from Macaulay, the result was a powerful vision of England as the beacon of this civilising mission that made him the Whig-imperialist he was to remain. A confidence in Britain’s imperial mission and in her destiny to be ‘great’ remained with him always; but this did not suffice to make him a Conservative.


Churchill himself was aware that his views on the world were hardly those of the average Conservative. On the great question of the relations between the Church and the State, Churchill was a complete Erastian: ‘If a Church is “established” … it is obvious that the State should be able to insist on effective control.’13 This was closer to the view of the Liberation Society and the nonconformist Liberals than it was to Salisburian Conservatism. The same was true of Churchill’s ‘advanced’ views on matters such as the extension of the franchise. In Savrola his sympathy with the rebels and with democratic methods of government is plain, and he took the view that ‘ultimately “one man, one vote” is logically and morally certain’.14 But he was no radical democrat. Time would be needed and the lower classes would have to be ‘levelled up’, presumably led by those like Savrola possessed of a ‘greater soul and stronger mind’.15 Churchill’s democratic thought was of a distinctly Whiggish caste – the aristocracy leading the ‘people’.


Young Winston’s views were, for all their idiosyncratic acquisition and mode of expression, not dissimilar to those held by many of his Liberal-minded contemporaries. He certainly felt an affinity with Liberalism, telling Lady Randolph in March 1897 that he was ‘a Liberal in all but name’. It was, he said, only that Party’s addiction to Home Rule for Ireland which kept him from joining it.16 That was true as far as it went, but it was only part of the filial piety which made him want to enter Parliament as a Conservative.


In the great schism of 1886 caused by Gladstone’s commitment to Home Rule for Ireland, Lord Randolph had played a prominent role. As the Liberal Party split, so he encouraged Joseph Chamberlain, one of the leaders of the Liberal Unionists, to maintain close co-operation with the Conservative Party. The untimely demise of Lord Randolph’s political career prevented anything coming of this alliance, but Winston saw himself as the inheritor of the tradition for which his father had stood. As Churchill studied his father’s career, he joined the ranks of those who believed that Lord Randolph had been the true successor to Disraeli: a prophet of ‘Tory Democracy’ and the inheritor of ‘Elijah’s mantle’. Disraeli left a rich mythology to his adopted Party, one of its most important parts being the idea of ‘One Nation Toryism’. The Conservative Party, this line of thought went, was the only true ‘national’ Party. Disraeli had carried out social reforms and given recognition to the right of trades unions to picket, during his 1874–80 administration; for Churchill, Lord Randolph represented this tradition, as opposed to the aristocratic, reactionary Conservatism of Hatfield House and Lord Salisbury.


This then was where Churchill saw himself fitting into the Conservative Party – or rather the Conservative and Unionist Party as it was after the formal alliance in 1895. Only ‘obstinate’ reactionaries like Salisbury, ‘lack-a-daisical cynics’ like his nephew, Arthur James Balfour, and ‘superior Oxford prigs’ such as Lord Curzon, failed to support ‘Tory Democracy’, with its potential for winning over the lower orders.17 This was one view. But as all the men whom Churchill mentioned so disdainfully were the leading figures in the Party whose ranks he wished to join, it did not bode well for his political future. Lord Randolph’s adherence to the Union meant that his son had to support the Unionist Party, but his own personal programme of domestic reform, accompanied by universal male suffrage and a progressive income tax, would have raised the eyebrows of Conservatives beyond the purlieus of Hatfield. But this was Churchill’s policy at home. Abroad, imperialism would be pursued, but there would be no intervention in the affairs of Europe; isolation was the order of the day here: ‘Peace and Power abroad – Prosperity and Progress at home’ was ‘the creed of Tory Democracy’.18 Churchill recognised that most ‘Tory Democrats’ were ‘Tories first and Democrats after’;19 the reverse was true with him.


But at the time when he was formulating these views, the possibility of their practical expression from within the Unionist Party exercised him less than the fear that he might never be able to realise them at all. He needed to make money and to produce a book on a military campaign to ‘bring my personality before the electorate’.20


Churchill wanted his mother to use her influence to get him posted to the Sudan, where Lord Kitchener was mounting a campaign to reconquer the territory from the heirs of the Mahdi, but her charms were not the sort to prevail upon the stern, imperial warlord, so Churchill had to languish at home. But Lady Randolph finally came up trumps. Her friendship with Sir Bindon Blood secured an opportunity for Churchill to see active service on the North-West Frontier with the Malakand Field Force; it was not the reconquest of the Sudan, but it would do. Campaigning offered the possibility of military distinction, newspaper articles and even a book, all of which would bring closer the political career he longed for. War also offered the chance of an early grave, but Churchill did not think that death awaited him on the North-West Frontier: ‘I have faith in my star – that I am intended to do something in the world.’21


The Malakand campaign allowed Churchill to show not only his bravery, but also the speed and application with which he pursued his literary ambitions. The Malakand Field Force was published in March 1898, having taken him five weeks to write – and he had to set aside his novel to do the job.22 This haste, and the efforts at proof-reading of his uncle, Moreton Frewin, produced a host of errors which caused an embarrassed Churchill to dismiss the book as an ‘eyesore’,23 but it did bring him offers of further work from the literary world, and praise from his mother’s friends, including the Prince of Wales.24 Churchill, however, was disappointed that ‘the present edition does not reach where it is intended. It is all very well to write for democracy, but you must publish at democratic prices.’25 He could not afford to be caviare to the general – that is why he wrote for the popular press and lost no opportunity of publicising himself. As Lord Randolph’s son he was automatically of interest to the readers of the large-circulation, popular newspapers, which had come into existence in the 1880s under the impact of wider elementary education – and the commercial genius of Alfred Harmsworth, founder of the Daily Mail, and later, as Lord Northcliffe, the prototype of the press baron.


It was all very well for the head of the Cecil clan, in the seclusion of his library at Hatfield, to dismiss the Mail as ‘a paper written by office boys for office boys’, but young Churchill realised that with the advent of a larger electorate, the Office boys’ had the vote. The old methods of electioneering would no longer do; it was necessary, if a larger audience was to be reached, for politicians to impress a clear ‘image’ on the public mind. As Churchill told his mother, this was ‘not so much a question of brains as of character and originality’.26 In this, as in his tireless self-promotion, Churchill showed himself a child of the new political age which dawned after the 1884 Reform Act. ‘I should never care to bolster up a sham reputation and hold my position by disguising my personality,’27 he told his mother in January 1898. Indeed, such an exercise would have been pointless, for it was that personality, writ large for consumption by an electorate which was nearly as unsophisticated as himself, which was to become Churchill’s main political tool. Lord Moran was nearly half a century out in his calculation that Churchill had allowed himself to become ‘a character’ in 1940 because ‘none knew better that the public must see clearly the outline of their heroes’;28 this was a lesson Churchill had imbibed before his political career started.


Churchill’s too overt use of ‘influence’ to get himself posted to spots where he could write books caused a reaction against him in parts of the Army, and he was only able to get himself to the Sudan in 1898 by courtesy of the help of the Prime Minister, Lord Salisbury. This enabled Churchill to ride in the last great cavalry charge at Omdurman – a classic moment in My Early Life, and a permanent topic of after-dinner reminiscence. It also provided the raw material for his next, and more controversial, book, The River War, which was published in December 1899.


The River War marked a considerable advance on Churchill’s previous work. This time the adventure story was seasoned with philosophical reflections and downright criticisms of his superior officers, especially Kitchener. The book revealed that Churchill’s imperialism was as Liberal as the rest of his views. Although he was prepared to use Salisbury’s influence, he regarded the Prime Minister as ‘an able and obstinate man, who joins the brains of a statesman with the susceptibilities of a mule’.29 The Salisburian quotation with which he decorated the title page of The Malakand Field Force was used with the Churchillian tongue firmly in cheek. Salisbury called frontier wars ‘the surf that marks the edge of the wave of civilisation’, but Churchill’s experience at Malakand, and then during the River War, made him draw different conclusions. Although ‘no one in the world’ was ‘more proud of the British Empire’,30 Churchill’s admiration was not unconditional. He regarded the British achievement in India with pride, as ‘an accurate measure of the distance through which development aided by civilisation has carried the human species’,31 but this made him all the more critical when the British fell below what he considered the level of events. Just as Macaulay could not condone the realpolitik of Warren Hastings or Robert Clive, so too did Churchill regard Salisbury’s ‘forward’ policy. Whilst describing the bravery of the British troops in both his early books, Churchill was critical, first in private but then in public, of the mainsprings of British policy.


In Macaulayesque language, he described the Malakand campaign to his mother as ‘financially ruinous … morally … wicked, and politically it is a blunder’.32 The whole thing would not have been necessary save for the home Government’s ‘forward policy’, which he described as ‘an awful business’ as the ‘tribesmen can give nothing but bullets’.33 He was scornful of the way in which patriotism degenerated into jingoism34 and of the way the public seemed to imagine that wars could be won without loss of life: ‘the sooner they realise that this is impossible, and that no tactics can prevent bullets from hitting men, the better’.35 He expected the British to be on the side of liberty and of progress, and when they were not he was unsparing in his criticism, hence his condemnation in the first edition of The River War of Kitchener’s conduct in taking the skull of the Mahdi and fashioning a drinking vessel from it, and in failing to take care of the wounded properly.36


‘Tory Democracy’ was an imprecise creed, but if its formularies comprehended such impeccably Liberal sentiments, then there were perhaps grounds for asking in what particulars save Home Rule it differed from Liberalism. But ancestry had cast Churchill’s lot in the Conservative Party. He had made his first political speech at a Primrose League gathering in Bath in 1897 and his second the following summer at Bradford. This last experience convinced him that he did, indeed, have a future in politics, confirming as it did that his speech impediment was no barrier to success and, most vitally, that ‘my ideas and modes of thought are pleasing to men’.37


Churchill’s popular ‘fame’ was purchased at two prices which he was willing to pay. The risk of death whilst in action was ever-present, but Churchill did not let it disturb him; he could not believe that ‘the Gods would create so potent a being as myself for so prosaic an ending’.38 The second price was paid in the distrust which his overt ambition aroused in others. There were, indeed, times when he questioned his own sincerity, acknowledging the truth in Cecil Rhodes’s criticism that he did ‘not care so much for the principles I advocate as for the impression which my words produce’ and the reputation which they gave him.39 But for all this, and his outrageous egotism, Churchill was more than a creation of his own hyperbole. A self-educated ‘Tory Democrat’ and Liberal imperialist, there was a tension between his imbibed views on democracy and his instincts, but he resolved it to his own satisfaction by the concept of the leadership of ‘great souls’ – such as Savrola, and himself. That the ‘masses’ might lead themselves was not an idea which ever readily occurred to Churchill.


The River War certainly brought Churchill plenty of publicity, but some of it proved that P. T. Barnum was wrong when he said that there was no such thing as bad publicity. The criticisms he so freely levelled at Kitchener aroused the hostility of the military establishment,40 and the Prince of Wales spoke for many when he told Winston: ‘I must say I think that an officer serving in a campaign should not write letters for the newspapers or express strong opinions of how the operations are carried out.’41


As early as 1897 Churchill had decided to spend no more than two further years in the Army,42 but the prospect of having nothing to live on if he did resign his commission was hardly encouraging. He considered applying for a home posting, or perhaps a transfer to the Intelligence Branch, which would have allowed him to pursue his political ambitions but retain his place.43 The financial problems besetting him were acute.44 Despite the money earned from his despatches for the Morning Post during the Sudan campaign, and the money he might earn from Savrola and any other literary work, the outlook was not good. As he told his mother in December 1898, ‘Poverty produced by thoughtlessness will rot your life of peace and happiness and mine of success.’45 The prospect of failure appalled him: ‘It will break my heart, for I have nothing else but ambition to cling to.’46


These were not prospects which would induce most men to resign their posts and gamble on success, but then unless he did ‘unusual things’ Churchill did not see ‘what chance I have of being more than an average person’.47 Even when he resigned his commission in March 1899, he had no plan of how he was going to achieve his great ambition – merely faith that he would do so. Napoleon used to ask not whether his generals were any good, but whether they had luck. Churchill’s faith in his ‘star’ may have been nothing more than a continuation of infantile feelings of omnipotence,48 but it is not surprising it persisted – events seemed to suggest that he had Napoleon’s vital quality. His luck and courage took him through the frontier campaigns in India with no serious injuries, and he rode in the cavalry charge at Omdurman, one arm strapped up, firing his pistol at the Dervishes, and came out unscathed;49 it was little wonder that his faith in his ‘star’ should have waxed.


Churchill left the Army in 1899 and, at first, it appeared that his gamble had not paid off. His own reputation, allied to his father’s name and his mother’s influence, was sufficient to extract from the Conservative Party the nomination for one of the Oldham seats at a by-election, but, despite a vigorous campaign, he failed to get elected.50 Churchill’s reaction to his wife’s remark that the 1945 election result was a ‘blessing in disguise’ is well-known, but in this instance the blessing was, indeed, well-disguised. Had he won the by-election, he would have been presented with the prospect of another election within the year and how to pay both for it and his own existence; as it was, events conspired in his favour. The outbreak of the Boer War provided him with another journalistic beano, and what at first seemed another mischance turned out to be the foundation of his fortune.


Of all the events which brought Churchill’s ‘personality’ before a wide public audience, the capture by the Boers of a military train in which he was travelling in November 1899, and his subsequent escape from captivity, were by far the most important. That Lord Randolph’s son had been captured was news, albeit of a sort all too distressingly common in November and December 1899, as the British began to realise that the Boers were formidable opponents; but that he should have escaped was, in one of the blackest periods for the British, sensational news.51 Churchill became an instant popular hero – there were not, after all, many other candidates for the post. As ever, controversy dogged his steps, and it was not long before stories began to circulate that Churchill had broken his parole with the Boers and left two of his companions in the lurch in order to make good his own escape.52 Lord Rosslyn, who saw service at Ladysmith and was correspondent for the Mail, made these aspersions public in his memoir, Twice Captured, published in 1900.53


Churchill denied that he had done anything wrong, telling the Prince of Wales that the charge was ‘a cruel and wicked falsehood’.54 But the stories that he had behaved dishonourably in leaving behind the two comrades who had originally planned the escape, circulated for years afterwards, becoming, in their very vagueness, part of the ‘proof’ that Churchill was unreliable.55 As late as 1930, with the publication of My Early Life, the charges resurfaced, but Churchill maintained that he had acted in ‘strict good faith’.56


None of this clouded Churchill’s celebrity at the end of 1899. A famous figure in every British household with access to a newspaper, he had at last come before ‘the democracy’. This stood him in good stead for the contest at Oldham in the general election of October 1900, but it did more than that: it also provided him with an income. Turning lecturer, he toured first England and then the United States, amassing the tremendous sum of £10,000 by his efforts.57 He now had, with careful management, that competence which he needed to be independent. The great war hero could hardly escape being elected for Oldham on his ‘Tory Democrat’ platform.58 Those who doubted the subaltern’s ‘star’ might have been given pause for thought by such a concatenation of circumstances: Churchill, who did not doubt, was merely more convinced than ever that he was marked out for great things.


But election to Parliament in the Conservative–Unionist interest meant that the time was approaching when the consonance between his ‘Tory Democrat’ ideas and the policy of his Party would be tested. In so far as anything in politics is inevitable, Churchill’s quarrelling with his Party was. The ideas which have already been examined were not those of the average Conservative MP. His first try at Oldham in 1899 had revealed the sort of problems which were likely to arise.


Religion was not a topic which greatly engaged Churchill’s attention, but it was one about which large sections of the electorate felt strongly. When Churchill’s agent in Oldham told him that something called the Clerical Tithes Bill, which was designed to bring greater equality into clerical salaries, was an object of aversion to nonconformists, of whom there were many in the borough, he was quite willing to disown it. This brought down upon his head a flood of rebukes for abandoning a policy about which the Party felt strongly. Other examples soon multiplied.
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A Dissident Unionist





A man who believed in universal male suffrage, progressive taxation and social reform, and who attached no importance to protecting the position of the Church of England, was always going to find life in the Conservative Party difficult. When, as in Churchill’s case, these views were combined with a personal manner which could only be described as ‘pushing’, and a lack of respect for Conservative shibboleths and the grey-beards who led the Party, it was likely that the difficulties would become major. But that is not to say that Churchill was bound to part company with the Conservatives.


The Viceroy of India, Lord Curzon, was an accurate prophet when he warned Churchill that there was ‘no more difficult position than that of being on the benches behind a Government. It is so hard to strike the mean between independence and loyalty.’1 Grandees like Joe Chamberlain used to say that as Winston was young he could ‘afford not to hurry too much’,2 but that was to mistake the nature of the beast. His Cabinet colleague, the Secretary of State for War, St John Broderick, showed more acuity when, in congratulating Churchill upon his election, he commented that it was a shame they were not going to be in opposition as ‘your artillery will inevitably be directed against us’.3


Because Churchill crossed swords with his leaders from the start, as a prelude to crossing the floor of the House in 1903, and because of his reputation as a self-willed, pugnacious individual, it is easy to see him as a natural rebel; he was no such thing. Churchill was certainly a young man in a hurry, but young men usually are, and the art of political management is to ensure that their energy is utilised and their ambitions encouraged. Churchill’s career suggests that he responded well to good management. On the whole he prospered under the aegis of a leader who gave him sympathy and responsibility: Asquith after 1908 and Stanley Baldwin between 1924 and 1929 are obvious examples. The ‘tragedy’, as Churchill himself later recognised, was ‘that Balfour had never bothered to get hold of him when he was a young Conservative MP … if he had he would probably have gone down with him’.4


Arthur James Balfour had been associated with Lord Randolph in the early 1880s in the ‘Fourth Party’: a group of rebellious, young (ish) Conservatives who had harassed Gladstone in the Commons. A philosopher, the aesthetic (even slightly precious) side of Balfour’s character was captured in one of his nick-names, ‘Pretty Fanny’. But anyone who, seeing his languid manner, took the slim, elegant bachelor for a weak man, was wide of the mark. When his uncle, Lord Salisbury, appointed him Chief Secretary for Ireland, there had been gasps of astonishment; but by the time he left that post, he was known as ‘Bloody Balfour’. By 1900 he was the obvious successor to his uncle, and with Salisbury’s health failing, his accession to the Premiership would be at not too distant a date. Churchill came to have for him an admiration which he extended to few others; fascinated by his conversation and his intellect, Churchill would have willingly followed him, but no lead was given.5


There was, of course, no reason why Balfour should have made any great efforts in Churchill’s direction. The name which Lord Randolph had left behind in the Conservative Party was one which encouraged the House of Cecil to distrust him and any heirs to the tradition which he had espoused. In the absence of any warm welcome from his leaders, Churchill was left to his own devices. This exercise was, whenever it was indulged in, seldom productive of good relations between Churchill and whichever Party he belonged to. In harness he was excellent; out of it he was a loose cannon on the deck.


There were three circumstances which militated in favour of friction between Churchill and his Party over the next two years. The one issue which, back in 1897, had tied him to the Conservative Party was the question of the union between England and Ireland, but that question had fallen into the background of Westminster politics, and the issues which replaced it were not ones which emphasised the common ground which Churchill had with the Conservatives. This sense of being out of tune with his Party was fostered by his major literary activity during this time, the writing of Lord Randolph’s official biography. He started the book feeling that his father had been badly treated, and ended it with the burning conviction that he had been scurvily handled by the House of Cecil. His attachment to Party orthodoxy was not strengthened by any demands from his constituency, which, as a marginal seat, contained many Liberals who found their MP’s heretical views quite acceptable.


But perhaps the greatest obstacle in the way of Churchill being accepted by the Conservative hierarchy was the shadow of Lord Randolph. Just as Randolph’s personality had been unstable, and his character considered to be ‘unsound’, then so too were those of the son who sought to model himself so closely upon the father he idolised. The frock-coat, the stoop forward in debate, the stance at ease, with hands on hips, the love of drama, the unabashed egotism, all these resemblances may have brought Churchill closer to his father, but they did not inspire trust upon the front bench. If there was a natural interest in Churchill as Lord Randolph’s son, it was accompanied by the shadow of the suspicions which were raised by his father’s ghost.


As Churchill worked away at Lord Randolph’s life, he came to have his own view of the relationship between his father and the House of Cecil. The Cecils, it seemed, had used Lord Randolph for their own ends: his oratory had damaged Gladstone’s Government and had destroyed Salisbury’s rival for the leadership of the Conservatives, Sir Stafford Northcote. Lord Randolph’s contacts with Chamberlain had been useful in 1886, and his platform speeches and ‘Tory Democratic’ policies had been electorally advantageous, but then in 1886 the Cecils had let him fall and made sure that he stayed out of office. There was, of course, much to be said on the other side, but Churchill did not see it. It seemed to him that his father would have been better advised, instead of struggling against the ‘old gang’, to have sought allies elsewhere.6


In the atmosphere thus engendered by Churchill’s study, his own differences of opinion with the Party helped to create a climate of acrimony. His maiden speech, on 18 February 1901, was watched with interest by the many MPs who had known his father. It was a good performance, but his declaration that ‘if I were a Boer I hope I should be fighting in the field’, whilst attracting favourable notice from the Liberal press, earned him criticism in the Tory papers.7 Churchill’s views were, in part, a reflection of the sympathy for nationalist revolts against foreign oppression which he had expressed in Savrola. In The River War, he thought that the Mahdist revolt was, in some ways, understandable and even laudable; it was not (heaven forfend) the expression of religious fanaticism which had been alleged, rather it was nationalistic in character. He showed sympathy too for the bravery of the Dervishes, and in a passage that with hindsight is oddly prophetic, he declared his hope that ‘if evil days should come upon our country’ and the last British army had collapsed, ‘there would be some – even in these modern days – who would not care to accustom themselves to the new order of things and tamely survive the disaster’.8 Such sentiments were hardly those of the average jingoistic Conservative. Nor was he any closer to the species in his view that to take revenge on the Boers would be ‘morally wrong’.9


In The River War and The Malakand Field Force there had been muted criticisms of the ‘forward policy’ in imperial affairs which Chamberlain’s aggressive imperialism had fostered. Churchill had confined himself to noting that it had ‘precluded the possibility of peace’, and said that it would be for the historian to pronounce upon its correctness.10 To be asked, as an MP, to vote for a scheme which would reorganise the Army in a manner which would make more such campaigns possible was, therefore, likely to mean asking too much of Churchill’s loyalty too soon. As early as his third Parliamentary speech Churchill was attacking the Government, with St John Broderick as his target and retrenchment upon Army expenditure as his theme.11 It was easy for the Secretary of State to respond to what became Churchill’s major campaign by accusing him of an ‘hereditary desire to run imperialism on the cheap’,12 but that missed the point, just as much as allegations that he was an impatient adventurer. In raising Lord Randolph’s ‘tattered flag’, Winston was doing more than demonstrating filial piety; he was exposing the Liberal foundations of his own thought. He had two main objections to the plan to reorganise the Army so as to provide six corps, three of which would be available for foreign service, and both of them were impeccably Liberal. In the first place, to spend £31 million on the Army was ‘intensely stupid’; in the second place, the desire to do so ‘betrays immoral yearnings’.13 A vast increase in expenditure on the Army would alarm other powers without increasing Britain’s strength, which depended, as it had always done, upon the Navy. Over the next three years this potent combination of inherited crusade and Liberal instincts was to lead to a series of speeches opposing what Churchill called ‘the great English fraud’.14


If attacking the Party leadership and a desire for ‘imperialism on the cheap’ were both family traits, then Churchill showed further devotion to his father’s memory by gathering together a latter-day Fourth Party, which even had (as Lord Randolph’s had) a member of the ‘Hotel Cecil’ on board – in this case Salisbury’s youngest son, Lord Hugh Cecil, in whose honour its members were called ‘Hughligans’. Rebelliousness was to be expected of Lord Randolph’s boy, and no one held against him his participation in such a group, but it was one thing to criticise the Government in a debate or two, and another to make a habit of it; as Chamberlain warned, there was ‘no room in politics for a dissentient Tory’.15 But in his views on the Army Scheme, and his advocacy of lenient treatment for the Boers, Churchill’s sentiments were not simply dissentient, they were Liberal, and it was radicals like John Burns and little Englanders like Gladstone’s biographer, John Morley, who wrote to congratulate him on his campaign for economy,16 and Whig grandees such as Earl Spencer who found themselves pleasantly surprised at how ‘sound and liberal’ his views on the war were.17


If debates on the Army and the Boer War exposed the Liberal foundations of Churchill’s thought, and if writing Lord Randolph’s biography suggested that ‘Tory Democracy’ might not prosper under the Cecilian Conservative Party, it was association with Lord Rosebery which first suggested to Churchill the possibilities of political infidelity. Six months before Chamberlain raised the subject upon which Churchill was to cross the floor, he was writing to Rosebery that ‘if some definite issue – such as the Tariff – were to arise’, it would remove the difficulties lying in the path of the formation of a ‘Tory–Liberal’ coalition.18 Churchill had first sought out Rosebery because he had known Lord Randolph, but he stayed to listen because he found him fascinating.19 Archibald Philip Primrose, the fifth Earl of Rosebery, was an enigma. Liberal Prime Minister from 1893 to 1894, he had resigned the Liberal leadership thereafter, retiring in a sulk like Achilles, but in his case not to his tent, but rather to his mansions at Mentmore, the Durdans and Berkeley Square. But in 1901–2 it seemed that he was once more emerging, and that in a fluid, political situation he might act as the rallying-point for a ‘Tory-Liberal’ combination which might suit young Churchill’s requirements.


The Liberal Party, fissiparous at the best of times, had suffered particularly badly from the Boer War. On one side of the Party were those who agreed with the firebrand radical from North Wales, David Lloyd George, that the war was wrong and should be condemned; set against the Gladstonian and radical elements were the Liberal imperialists or ‘Limps’, Asquith, Sir Edward Grey and Richard Haldane. These men looked towards Rosebery as their leader and inspiration. It all meant a hard life for the official Liberal leader, an amiable Scots mediocrity, Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, especially when, in a major speech at Chesterfield in December 1901, Rosebery seemed to condemn the war and went on to urge the Liberal Party to ‘wipe its slate clean’ on Ireland, abandon the outworn radicalism of the 1893 Newcastle programme, and take its stand on the subject of ‘national efficiency’. In February 1902 he established the Liberal League as an instrument for promoting his views.20


Rosebery’s appeal met with mixed fortunes, but to a young MP who was already finding the strain of confining his imbibed Liberalism within the Conservative Party considerable, the prospect of the creation of a ‘middle Party’ was irresistible. Lord Hugh Cecil was sceptical – ‘that may be a very proper course when there is a Middle Party to join’21 – but for Churchill, Rosebery offered a Party ‘free at once from the sordid selfishness and callousness of Toryism on the one hand and the blind appetites of the Radical masses on the other’: a ‘Tory-Liberal Party’.22 The problem was that any desertion of the Conservative Party without due cause would look like treason. But in March 1903 Joseph Chamberlain’s declaration that he favoured a system of imperial tariffs provided just the excuse Churchill had been looking for. As Churchill told the newspaper magnate, Lord Northcliffe, in August 1903: ‘I think this is the time for a central Government and if Lord Rosebery lets the opportunity pass it may never return.’23 Lord Hugh was cautious, but then his filial piety acted as an anchor to the Conservative Party. Churchill’s growing conviction that ‘Tory Democracy’ would always be stifled by the ‘old gang’, who had destroyed his father, led him in another direction.


Churchill accepted the system of free trade which Britain had had since 1846 as one of the foundations of her imperial greatness, and, overlooking his father’s flirtation with ‘fair trade’ in the 1880s, he took his stand against the introduction of tariffs on imports. Many Conservatives held similar views, but others rallied to Chamberlain’s standard like men to a crusade. For Balfour, who had become Prime Minister in 1902, it was the last thing he needed. A Prime Minister who has not won his own position is always vulnerable, and when the most powerful figure in the Conservative and Unionist alliance chose to challenge one of the fundamental dogmas of British politics, that vulnerability increased enormously. But Balfour’s danger might be Churchill’s opportunity. When the matter was debated in the House on 28 May 1903, Churchill prophesied that the ‘old Conservative Party’ would ‘disappear’, to be replaced by something like the American Republican Party, ‘rich, materialist and secular’.24 It would certainly have suited Churchill’s purpose if this had come to pass.


Churchill was convinced that tariff reform, or ‘Protection’, would result in a ‘landslide’ against the Government at the next election; putting taxes on basic food-stuffs seemed like evidence of an electoral death-wish. As he told Northcliffe in September 1903, ‘the smug contentment and self-satisfaction of the Government will be astonished by what is coming to meet them’. With ‘a little care’ he thought that ‘we might very easily set up a great Central Government, neither Protectionist nor pro-Boer, which will deal with the shocking administrative inefficiency which prevails’.25 Churchill looked towards the Duke of Devonshire, who as Lord Hartington had led the Whig defection from the Gladstone Government in 1886, to repeat the performance by leading many Liberal Unionists out of their alliance with the Conservatives.26 Devonshire certainly possessed the stature to head such a revolt, but Lord Hugh was right to doubt whether, at the age of seventy, the Duke was the man for such ‘visionary’ enterprises.27


A Whig grandee, who cultivated an image of himself as a man above ambition or intrigue, ‘Harty-Tarty’, as he was unkindly known in circles not far from Rotten Row where the ‘pretty little horse-breakers’ took their equestrian promenades, was past his best. Even at his best he, like Rosebery, lacked the energy and ambition necessary to try to create a ‘Central Party’. Balfour, who tried to keep him in the Cabinet when a crisis arose on the tariff issue in September, by assuring him privately that Chamberlain was going to resign, encountered problems with the Duke’s vagueness. Annoyed to receive a letter of resignation from him the following day, Balfour’s feelings turned to astonishment as drama gave way to high farce. Devonshire’s private secretary, Lord Stanley, assured him that the Duke did not intend to go. It transpired that Devonshire, having mislaid the key to his Cabinet box, had failed to open it and had thus never seen Balfour’s letter. Upon reading it the Duke withdrew his resignation.28 His remaining credit was expended when he finally resigned in early October.


With Chamberlain stumping the country, his tariff reform league captured most local Conservative associations and the lot of the free-trade Tory was not a happy one. To men like Lord Hugh this was a source of regret; they saw themselves being driven from the Party they loved by a wave of intolerance stirred up by a man who had never been a proper Conservative. But Churchill, who had certainly never been a proper Conservative, felt somewhat differently. ‘I hate the Tory Party, their men, their words and their methods,’ he declared in a letter, which, with unusual sensitivity, he did not send to Lord Hugh; he was ‘an English Liberal’.29 He may not have sent the letter, but it summed up how he felt by October 1903, which made the advice which he received upon how to prevent a breach between himself and the Party somewhat otiose.


The local Party chairman in Oldham, Mr Travis-Clegg, himself a free trader, told Churchill in October that he had no chance of retaining the Conservative nomination for the seat, but advised him on how best to avoid being repudiated by the Oldham Conservative association before the next election.30 Lord Hugh joined in these counsels of moderation, pointing out that their attempt to organise against the ‘Joeites’ was beginning to show signs of success.31 It was to no avail. Rumours abounded that Churchill would stand against Chamberlain in his Birmingham fiefdom at the next election,32 and he received a rapturous welcome from the ‘large number of Liberals’ at the first meeting of the Free Food League on 24 November.33 His actions in speaking against the Government at the opening of the next session of Parliament, and in supporting a Liberal candidate at the Ludlow by-election in December, were the final straw for his constituency organisation. 34 Lord Hugh lamented his ‘instability’; this, he said, was not the way to win over ‘Unionists who are in doubt’.35 But since Churchill had neither doubts nor consideration for the feelings of others, Lord Hugh was wasting paper and ink.


Lord Hugh hoped that the Conservative free traders might ‘drive a hard bargain for our votes’,36 but with the Government seemingly bent on political suicide, the Liberals were not disposed to pay too high a price for the votes of those who had nowhere else to go.37 Whilst Devonshire tried to persuade Earl Spencer and Campbell-Bannerman to come to some sort of electoral pact, Churchill let it be known that he was ‘quite ready after a gap in his parliamentary career to become a Liberal’.38 If they could pick off individual Conservatives in this way, the Liberals had even less incentive to pay any price for Lord Hugh and company. Although he still hoped for the creation of a Roseberyite ‘Centre Party’, Churchill evidently realised that it was not going to come from the ruins of the Liberal Party; in choosing to attack free trade, Chamberlain had united the Liberals in a way which almost made up for his helping to split them in 1886.


Contacts with the Liberal Chief Whip, Herbert Gladstone, showed Churchill that there would be no difficulty in finding a Liberal seat; indeed, as he later said, he was in the ‘enviable situation’ of ‘a lady with several suitors’.39 There was, however, the problem that this ‘young lady’ was already attached. The pro-Chamberlain Oldham association had long been discontented with Churchill, and by the end of 1903 it was expressing votes of no confidence in him. In early January 1904 it Formally disavowed him, but Churchill, secure in the knowledge that both Liberal and Labour interests would not oppose him, could challenge the association to force a by-election.40 Since a straight fight between a tariff reformer and a free-trade candidate was the last thing which the Party wanted, Churchill could remain as MP for Oldham – at least until the election. But was he a Conservative of some sort, or was he a Liberal?


Churchill’s exact position was, by the beginning of 1904, a matter for speculation. The Daily Telegraph reported in mid-January that he was among several Unionists to whom the Party Whip would not be sent. Churchill asked Balfour whether this was so and whether it had been done on his authority.41 The terms of his letter were so guarded that, despite his later claim that his meaning was clear, Balfour chose (perhaps mischievously) to read it as a declaration that he was ‘a loyal though independent supporter of the present administration’.42 Churchill’s response to this hardly clarified the situation. Writing on 2 February, he told Balfour that he had ‘expressed no desire … to receive the Government Whips…. I neither invite them nor decline them.’ Describing himself as a ‘Unionist Free Trader’, who was ‘opposed to what is generally known as Home Rule and to Protection in any form’, he told Balfour that he could not regard ‘your administration as any satisfactory security against the latter … and I am not quite sure that its continuance is of any particular value to the cause of the Union’. He was, he wrote, a ‘wholehearted opponent of Mr Chamberlain’, something which might drive him to take actions which, ‘though not necessarily contrary to the permanent interests of the Unionist Party, may be incidentally hostile to the existing Government’. Churchill left it to Balfour to decide ‘whether it is worthwhile to forward me the Government whips…. I certainly shall not complain whatever your decision may be.’43


It was a curious correspondence; but if Churchill had been trying to provoke Balfour into precipitating him from the Party, as his original intention of publishing the correspondence suggests, he had met his match. Balfour’s dialectical mastery made it look as though Churchill was simply prevaricating; so the correspondence was never published.44 In the end Churchill had to declare his hand in a more public fashion. When he rose on 29 March to announce that he was resigning the Conservative Whip, the whole Party, including Balfour, rose and left him alone. The experience shook him. He even thought about forcing a by-election, but decided to sit tight instead.45


Churchill’s attachment to his father’s Party had been weakened by the process of writing Lord Randolph Churchill shaken by disagreements over Army reform, and finally sundered by the success which tariff reform was having within its ranks; but underlying this process was the liberal caste of Churchill’s mind. Where Lord Hugh Cecil would not touch the policies advocated by Lloyd George ‘with a punt pole’, Churchill discovered that their views had a good deal in common. It was, perhaps, tactless of Winston to tell Lord Hugh, whose views on Church matters would have been regarded as extreme in a sixteenth-century prelate, that the only thing which surprised him in the course of a discussion on religious education in schools with Lloyd George was how ‘astonishingly small and petty’ some of the differences were. But it is indicative, as was his agreement with Lloyd George’s ideas on agricultural and trades union reform, of how easy Churchill found co-operation with even radical Liberals.46 It was true that some Liberals found him insufficiently radical for their taste,47 but Churchill found no problem in accepting most Liberal attitudes on the central political questions of the day.


Not yet a Liberal in name, but not a Conservative, Churchill was in a position which suited him well. Lord St Aldwyn, who, as Sir Michael Hicks-Beach, had been a Conservative Chancellor and an associate of Lord Randolph’s, warned Churchill that ‘Radical tendencies in a Tory, or Tory tendencies in a Radical, however agreeable to the conscience, handicap a man severely on the run.’48 But making up his mind to ‘stick to one side or the other’, as St Aldwyn advised, was something Churchill would always have difficulty doing. As the Free Food League candidate for north-west Manchester, he had the promise of support from the Liberals and from Labour, but he was under none of the usual obligations entailed by membership of a political Party. Those obligations which did come his way were perfectly acceptable. If the Manchester Jewish community objected to the Government’s Aliens Bill, which would have restricted the right of their co-religionists fleeing Tsarist pogroms to find refuge in England, well, so too did Churchill’s Liberal instincts.49 If the trades unions and the nonconformist conscience revolted at the thought of indentured Chinese labour being brought into the Transvaal, so did Churchill’s.50 As progressive Liberals like Charles Trevelyan and Charles Masterman opened Churchill’s eyes to the sufferings and the poverty of the great mass of the English people, he came to believe that the ideals of ‘Tory Democracy’ could be achieved only through alliance with the Liberal Party. But as Churchill himself recognised, the process of leaving the Conservatives would have been much more difficult had tariff reform not become an issue; even now, if it subsided, his ‘personal ambitions’ would be left ‘naked and stranded on the beach’.51


Despite crossing the floor of the House, Churchill avoided actually joining the Liberal Party. ‘I am at this present moment’, he told one correspondent in October 1904, ‘entirely isolated in politics – having no sort of connection with any group of politicians.’52 But that was whilst Rosebery’s ‘attempt to form a central Conservative Party comprising the free trade element’53 was still in the air. Churchill had his name removed from the books of the Carlton Club in April 1905,54 and rumour, in its usual abounding fashion, had it that he would be offered a seat in the next Liberal Cabinet.55 His position, if still equivocal, was becoming increasingly defined by the reaction of others to his own actions. There was no room in politics for an independent Conservative. Every political Party values loyalty above independence of judgment, but only the Conservatives regard it as the ark of the covenant. Churchill had, from the first, offended against this code and to rebellion had added other objectionable qualities: egocentricity of an intensity which most politicians take elaborate steps to conceal, but which he seemed to flaunt; an excessive liking for the sound of his own voice; and, finally, a tendency to personalise his political attacks in a manner which combined offence and vulgarity in equal proportions. Balfour, the butt of many salvoes, referred dismissively to the ‘elaborately prepared personalities of the member for Oldham’,56 but after one particularly vicious attack upon the Prime Minister, the King declared that ‘Churchill is a born cad’;57 he was not alone in taking this view.


Churchill’s co-operation with the Liberal association in north-west Manchester still left him free to join in any Roseberyite revival, but in even expecting such a thing, Churchill showed his political naïveté. The ‘great imperialist’ put himself totally out of court in late November 1904 with a speech declaring that he could support no government pledged to introduce Home Rule. John Morley reassured Churchill that there was ‘no question’ of ‘forcing’ the issue ‘to the point’, and urged him not to refuse office.58


Balfour resigned on 4 December 1905, and within four days the unregarded Campbell-Bannerman had managed to bring even the Liberal imperialists into his Government. The same electoral considerations which demanded their inclusion also suggested the wisdom of inviting a prominent Conservative defector. Campbell-Bannerman’s original intention was to offer Churchill the post of Financial Secretary to the Treasury. This seems to have been prompted by the vigour with which Churchill had combated Chamberlain’s economic arguments, but the post, although commonly held to be the antechamber to the Cabinet, did not appeal. Asquith, who was to be Chancellor of the Exchequer, was the most formidable Liberal speaker in the House, and to be his junior would offer little scope for shining in debate. Churchill asked the new Prime Minister for the post of Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office; it is not without significance that his chief there, the Earl of Elgin, was not only a peer but also a singularly taciturn one.59 Churchill described his job as ‘only a stipendiary echo’ – it would have been that at the Treasury, but the Colonial Office offered something more.60
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Son of his Father?





Churchill’s name had been a considerable asset to a young man bent upon making his way in Conservative politics, but it had been a mixed blessing. It had made young Winston’s ‘actions noteworthy before he had really done anything, but it also made them liable to misconstruction. Lord Randolph had left behind him a reputation which was far from unsullied: adventurer, cad and opportunist were just some of the adjectives used about him by his contemporaries. Churchill’s biography of his father, which was published in 1906, created a portrait in which light predominated over shade. Lord Randolph’s life became an explanation of his son’s career, and ‘Tory Democracy’ became a crusade rather than a tactical device with which to win electoral support.1 Lord Randolph Churchill established its author’s reputation as an historian, but that was only half its work; the other half was to establish the suitability of its hero as a role-model for his son.


During the course of writing the book Churchill had been able to come into closer contact with the great men of the political world than would have been usual for a tyro backbencher: Arthur Balfour, Joseph Chamberlain, the Duke of Devonshire and Lord Rosebery had all been free with their reminiscences and, in some instances, with their correspondence. However, Churchill’s warm relations with Rosebery had been blighted by a frost when he called Lord Randolph by the opprobrious Etonian epithet of ‘scug’ – the whole thrust of the biography was to absolve its main protagonist from such charges. Lord Randolph’s old radical crony, Wilfrid Scawen Blunt, had written in his diary following Winston’s defection from the Tory Party that he expected ‘to see [him] playing precisely his father’s game, and I should not be surprised if he had his father’s success’.2 It was because people made such comparisons that it was essential that the true significance of Lord Randolph’s career (as interpreted by his son) should be understood.


The foundation of Churchill’s success as a writer was his ability to tell a dramatic story; his heroes are there to evoke sympathy and empathy, and his villains are, like those of Macaulay, men whose great gifts have been perverted to mean ends. Had Churchill still been in the Conservative Party in 1906 he would have suffered some embarrassment; the villains of the piece are clearly the Cecil clan, amongst whose members was the leader of the Tories, Arthur Balfour. The ‘Hotel Cecil’ had been happy to utilise Lord Randolph’s considerable gifts in pursuit of its own dominance. Whilst the struggle for power had been in progress, lip-service had been paid to Lord Randolph’s ideas of ‘Tory Democracy’; once power was won, he had been ruthlessly discarded, along with his rhetoric. In Winston’s story this becomes a great tragedy. Lord Randolph had been the true heir of Disraeli, but the bearer of the mantle of Elijah had been used by clever reactionaries for their own ends. If readers decided that it was no surprise that the son had changed Party because he too found the way to ‘Tory Democracy’ blocked by the same men, then so much the better. Scawen Blunt concluded that young Churchill seemed to be looking ‘to a leadership of the Liberal Party and an opportunity of full vengeance on those who caused his father’s death’.3


Lord Randolph Churchill, by casting the career of its hero in a kindlier light, suggested that the actions of its author should also be so interpreted. Before 1906 Winston Churchill’s reputation rested upon foundations which suggested that parallels with his father’s career were very much in order. Thus far he had been a Parliamentary gadfly, a bumptious overgrown schoolboy with the tongue of an orator and the manners of a boor; his position rested on the twin foundations of a famous name and a considerable talent for self-advertisement. Political infidelity had already made him an object of contemptuous loathing on the Unionist benches. Edward VII spoke for many in ‘Society’ when he labelled the young man ‘a cad’.4 Lord Randolph had attracted similar epithets. To attribute Churchill’s behaviour to his ‘bright red American blood’5 explains little about his character, but it could have been said of him, as it was of Disraeli, that ‘men who make their positions will say and do things which are not necessary to be said and done by those for whom positions are provided’.


‘Winston Churchill’ as a public figure was the product of his age. Lord Randolph had said in 1884 that ‘we live in an age of advertisement’, and whatever was true of the 1880s, by 1906 his verdict was accurate. Politics was still sufficiently dominated by men born to the purple for this fact to be obscured: Balfour, Rosebery, Sir Edward Grey, Earl Spencer and their like needed no advertisement; their social position gave them the opportunity and the wealth to engage in the great game. Churchill’s success, and his manner of achieving it, were signs of the changing political climate. ‘Winston Churchill’ provided good ‘copy’ for the mass-circulation, popular press. Sophisticated politicians, then as now, liked to claim that politics was about ‘issues’ and not ‘personalities’, but the general public has always taken a different view. Churchill’s personality was one which easily impressed itself on a wider audience; but by the same token he was bound to arouse antagonism from those who deplored the ‘vulgarity’ of the new age.


By birth, education, upbringing and family ties, Churchill was indubitably a member of England’s aristocratic ruling elite; yet he was identifiably different from many of his colleagues in politics. He had not been through the ‘staff colleges’ of Oxford and Cambridge, acquiring there a social polish and a range of intellectual references sufficient to over-awe the plebeian mind. It was true that many Tory MPs came from a military background, but few Cabinet Ministers were to be counted in their number. Churchill enjoyed the advantages of being part of ‘the “old boy network” that connected all parts of patrician society’,6 but his character was not one which fitted easily into its conventions. Like Savrola, his ‘cast of mind’ was ‘vehement, high and daring’.7 He was by instinct and military training a man of action. In the most intimate of his books, My Early Life, Churchill wrote that ‘a man’s life must be nailed to a cross either of Thought or Action’;8 there could be no doubt where Churchill was ‘nailed’. He worked by intuition and instinct, and he had not had the mental training which channels the former and stifles the latter. Asquith, under whom he served for longer than he did under any Prime Minister, said of him that ‘Winston thinks with his mouth’.9 This may have been unkind, but it reflected the difference between the ‘man of Action’ and the ‘man of Thought’; and the upper reaches of British politics were dominated by the latter group – which was why Churchill was always something of an outsider10


Lord Randolph’s career had soared like a meteor when he had been in opposition, for his gifts were essentially destructive in kind and thus peculiarly suited to that situation; but in office he had been unable to harness his talents to more constructive purposes and had committed political suicide by an impulsive resignation. His whole political career had effectively spanned the years 1880 to 1886; gaudy, attractive, but short-lived, he had been a political mayfly. Winston’s restless career contained no suggestion that he would have greater sticking-power than his father. He had been a soldier, a journalist, a war hero and a lecturer before turning politician, and within three years he had changed from being a Unionist to being a Liberal. But the other careers had been means to the final one. A political career of half a century is not sustained by hot air alone, and the Campbell-Bannerman Government was to show that young Churchill could be a formidable ‘pack horse’ when it came to carrying the burden of administration.


Between the impetuous, aristocratic, former subaltern and the dour, Scottish Prime Minister there was fixed a gulf bridged only by mutual convenience. Churchill thirsted after office as a man in the desert does for water, and Campbell-Bannerman wanted to employ the brightest of the talents which the tariff reform controversy had cast up on the shores of Liberalism; but Churchill’s place would depend entirely upon the success with which he adapted his talents to the demands of office. There was no place for renegade mayflies in Campbell-Bannerman’s Government.


The Colonial Office was a conducive berth for an ambitious and impatient young man. One of the major problems facing the new Government was the settlement of South Africa in the aftermath of the Boer War, a task which fell within the remit of the Colonial Office. Churchill would not only be involved in trying to find a solution, but as his chief was in the House of Lords, it would fall to him to be the department’s spokesman in the Commons. If Churchill represented the new era, then Victor Alexander Bruce, ninth Earl of Elgin, was a perfect specimen of the old order that was passing. A reticent, Scottish nobleman, who firmly believed that public service was the duty which the aristocracy owed in return for its privileges, Elgin was not disposed to contest his subordinate’s desire for the limelight. He came to regard his brash junior Minister with a tolerant amusement tinged with respect for his extraordinary abilities. It was only after his own career had been cut short by Asquith that Elgin began to complain that Churchill had hogged the credit for work which was not solely his own.11


From the very start of his period of office Churchill laboured to impress himself upon both his post and his chief. An Under-Secretary can be a very minor form of political life, but Churchill showed from the start that he regarded his office as a springboard and not a sofa. Before the dust of the election had settled in January, Churchill had produced two large memoranda on the future status of South Africa, and in early February his arguments were circulated to the Cabinet.12 His contribution to the form of the final settlement of the South African problem is easily overestimated by those looking for signs that even in his political youth the lineaments of the great man of the future could be discerned,13 but he certainly played an active role in shaping a settlement along Liberal lines.


There was more to Churchill’s Liberalism than a mere distaste for tariff reform. Behind Joseph Chamberlain’s fiscal policy was a fear that Britain might be about to join the ranks of those Great Powers of the past who had been unable to hold on to their Imperium. Early Edwardian Unionism was suffused with a pessimism which went beyond the usual Conservative inclination to see all change as being for the worse. The Boer War had been an attempt to stop the rot, to assert British imperial will over territories which were strategically and economically important.14 Chamberlain saw Britain as a ‘weary titan’ staggering under the ‘too vast orb of her fate’.15 In the aftermath of the war the Unionist Government had struggled to find a form of constitution which would allow the British to hold on to the reins of power whilst reconciling the Boers to this fact; it was an enterprise which had enjoyed limited success. The High Commissioner in South Africa, Salisbury’s son-in-law, Lord Selborne, took the view that ‘Responsible Government probably means a Boer Ministry’, which, in turn, meant that they would use their position ‘remorselessly to diminish British influence in every possible way’.16 He and the Unionist Colonial Secretary, Alfred Lyttelton, had laboured to come up with a constitution which bore the name of the latter and, as far as the Boers were concerned, the mark of Cain. Churchill shared neither the cultural pessimism of the Unionist hierarchy, nor the conclusions to which it had driven them.


Churchill was by nature an optimist, and nothing in his reading of British history inclined him to draw pessimistic conclusions. A study of Macaulay and of the constitutional history of the British Empire furnished both ample reason for optimism and precedents upon which to act. It had been the folly of George III in levying unconstitutional dues on the American colonies which had driven them into revolt. To treat the natural desire of men of English stock to rule themselves as though it were rebellion was to invite it. The Boers were, in this scenario, honorary Englishmen. The Durham report of 1837 was the focus of Liberal mythology on the development of the Empire; by granting greater self-government to Canada, that country had evolved into a Dominion firmly attached to the mother country.17 Such was the Liberal view, and it was one which, as he made clear to Selborne, Churchill shared. Self-government, he believed, should be conceded now to avoid a situation where ‘what we might have given with courage and distinction both at home and in South Africa, upon our terms, in the hour of our strength, will be jerked and twisted from our hands without grace of any kind’.18


The ideas which Churchill, Elgin and Campbell-Bannerman brought to bear on the South African problem were of impeccable Liberal provenance and were to produce, within reason, a classic Liberal solution to the problem, but they did not comprehend its racial dimension. However, racial problems were not then the touchstone of Liberalism which they were to become. But not all the difficulties facing the new team at the Colonial Office were reconcilable with Liberal promises at the election. Whilst the Cabinet committee laboured away at South Africa and her future, Parliamentary debate was much taken up by the question of what had become known as ‘Chinese slavery’. Electioneering is notoriously a time when promises exceed a Party’s ability to deliver their object. The Liberals had condemned the importation of Chinese labourers into the Transvaal to help with the work of reconstruction as ‘slavery’, and they had promised to put an end to the practice. Churchill had been as forward as any in employing the issue as a stick with which to beat the Unionists; now he had to do something to fulfil the pledges made when the blood was heated by election-fever.


Churchill and Elgin discovered that the previous administration had already issued licences for another 14,000 ‘slaves’ and that it was not possible to end the system with the stroke of a pen.19 Common sense has never proved very popular with ideologues, and the use of arguments about practicability cut no ice with the radicals. One of the few Unionists to get himself elected for the first time in the new Parliament, the member for Walton, one F. E. Smith, had some sport with the dilemma in which the son of his great hero, Lord Randolph, found himself. During the debate on the King’s speech on 19 February Churchill admitted that, in his opinion, the terms upon which the Chinese were employed could not be described as ‘slavery’ without ‘some risk of terminological inexactitude’.20 This was interpreted by many Unionists as a euphemism for ‘lie’, and Smith, in one of the most famous maiden speeches in Parliamentary history, made reference to the wording of the Government’s motion that the election result gave ‘unqualified’ approval to Liberal policies. To call a man an ‘unqualified slave’, Smith opined, was to say that he could ‘be honestly described as completely servile, and not, merely, as semi-servile’. But to call a man ‘an unqualified medical practitioner, or an unqualified Under-Secretary’ was, he sneered, to say that ‘he is not entitled to any particular respect, because he has not passed through the normal period of training or preparation’.21


Churchill, who never minded the give-and-take of Parliamentary debate, took no offence at these remarks, which were delivered in a manner far from his own rather laboriously constructed efforts in the House. Smith was a born orator, whose skills were sharpened on the grindstone of his legal practice. His oratory was made all the more effective for being delivered in what might be described as a ‘deep brown’ voice. Churchill’s more highly pitched delivery was the product of hard work and a naturally good memory trained by practice. Smith could grab the House by its lapels at his first attempt, Churchill had to study the art; but he did this as he did all his political work, with dedication and perseverance. In an age of amateurs Churchill was a professional politician, and those parts of the politician’s armoury which he did not possess by gift of nature he acquired by perspiration.


What Churchill was naturally gifted with was a belligerent style. Impetuous and inclined to act before weighing the consequences, Churchill’s lack of sensitivity to the feelings of others was always apt to lead him into stormy waters. He wrote optimistically to Selborne in March of seizing the opportunity provided by a debate on Lord Milner to ‘improve the temper’ of those in South Africa who distrusted the Liberals and all their works.22 Milner, who had been High Commissioner at the time of the Boer War, was the darling of the Unionists, but much distrusted by Liberals as its architect. It had recently been revealed that whilst Milner had been in office, some of the coolies had been flogged. Radical Liberals seized the opportunity to put down a motion condemning their bête noir, but, as Churchill explained to Selborne, the Government would defuse the situation by putting down an amendment which avoided naming any individual. These admirable intentions were nullified by Churchill’s tactless language in the debate on 21 March; indeed, his speech could not have incensed Unionists more had it been planned with that end in mind. He spoke of Milner with a patronising condescension which sounded both ‘impertinent’ and ‘pompous’, referring to him as a ‘retired Civil Servant without any pension or gratuity’; a man who ‘has ceased to be a factor in public life’.23 His words may, as the official biographer thought, have been an echo of Macaulay’s famous passage on Warren Hastings, but it ill behoved the Government to seem to be standing in judgment on the great Unionist hero at the same time that it was alleging that no individual was to be condemned. Unionist opinion, predictably, was scandalised, but even the King found Churchill’s language ‘violent and objectionable’.24 Churchill seems to have been the only person to have been surprised at the furore.


The fact that Milner was ‘idolised’ by many Unionists brought down a flood of abuse on a man already castigated as a ‘traitor’ and sealed the breach between Churchill and his old Party. Judas had, after all, had the decency to hang himself afterwards. What gave offence was Churchill’s use of sonorous language in an inappropriate context; the spectacle of an ‘unqualified Under-secretary’ patronising one of the great heroes of the imperial story had about it something smacking of bathos. Churchill had not learnt to use the instrument of his oratory with any great precision, and he would nearly always be accused of rhetorical exaggeration and of using over-inflated language. There were occasions, however, when the Macaulayesque ‘grand style’ was appropriate, and his happiest hours would be found at such times. The fact that these tended to be great crises led naturally to the conclusion that he was a man who, in his own words, ‘liked things to happen’ and ‘liked to make them’ when they were not.25 But there was more to it than that. Life for Churchill was a vast heroic drama and his language, like that of Wagner’s Ring Cycle, was an instrument for conveying that vision to an audience. Churchill’s historical writings confirm a high and exalted view of life and its purpose. He would have agreed with Aristotle that ‘History is what Alcibiades did and suffered.’ For those who did not know that Alcibiades was the hero of Thucydides’s history of the Peloponnesian Wars, Churchill’s language, like Aristotle’s statement, failed to hit its target.


The most obvious period in which Churchill’s highly coloured rhetoric was matched with an appropriate occasion was the summer of 1940, but there were other occasions upon which the needs of the hour fitted the dimensions of a Churchillian oration. Speaking in the Commons on 31 July, announcing the decision to grant responsible government to the Boer republics, Churchill soared to heights of great rhetorical eloquence. Drawing on the model of Gladstone in his great final appeal to Conservatives to endorse his first Home Rule Bill, Churchill appealed to the Unionists to support the policy: ‘With all our majority we can only make it the gift of a Party; they can make it the gift of England.’26 After the Milner speech the King had declared with reference to Churchill that ‘nowadays Party comes before country’,27 but after this speech no one could have said that.


Churchill’s advocacy of greater self-government for South Africa may have placed him in the camp of Liberalism, but he was a Liberal-imperialist. There was no question for him but that the British Empire was a great engine of civilisation and an instrument for good. What he condemned were imperial actions which fell below what he regarded was the level of behaviour appropriate to those who bore the ‘white man’s burden’; Kipling had a ‘great influence’ on him.28 Churchill might, in an ill-season when his habitual concentration on the matter in hand narrowed his view, advocate reductions in armaments, but he never, even then, espoused the cause of anti-imperialism. Party labels fitted such a man where they touched. Churchill’s attachment was to his own ambition to secure personal fame and the greatness of England, and he tended to consort with those who shared such visions – to the distrust of the staid Party ‘hacks’ who dominated Westminster politics. Those who burn incense on the altars of a Party have a natural distrust of those freelances who take their pleasure where they find it; and, in a political system dominated by Party, the latter will always be accused of insincerity.


All political Parties have their own puritanism, but those of the left are more inclined towards the sins of self-righteousness and sanctimony. For a Liberal Minister to holiday with rich friends who owned yachts was a sin against the puritan god of self-denial, and it was one which Churchill committed with gay abandon, unconscious of his crime, for there was in him none of the puritan. But for him to form a friendship with F. E. Smith, who was such a scourge of the Liberal Government, was indeed to invite questions about his adhesion to Liberal values.


F. E. Smith was a man whose virtues commended themselves to those lacking the puritan spirit, which helps to explain the initial attraction between himself and Churchill. Bred in the ‘Tory Democracy’ of Birkenhead, that most spectacular of Victorian boom-towns, built on John Laird’s ship-building acumen, Smith was reared in a Toryism which owed nothing to the elevated pessimism of Lord Salisbury and Hatfield House, nor to the ‘lords of the pineries and vineries’ of London’s suburbia; anti-Popery and drink were its twin pillars. Born in Pilgrim Street, a stone’s throw from the Woodside Ferry, F.E. (as he was always known) was quite as imbued with ambition for himself and his country as the scion of the Churchill clan. Lacking Churchill’s connections with the ‘patrician network’, Smith had taken the classic method of acquiring them for a bright boy of his background – public school and then Oxford. His intellect had earned him a fellowship at Wadham, and his legal talents enabled him to make his way at the Bar. He swiftly established himself as one of the brightest stars on the Northern Circuit and he used his fame and forensic skills to cultivate political contacts in Liverpool, which brought him the nomination for Walton. Like that very different Merseyside man, W. E. Gladstone, he had acquired from Oxford culture, an entrée to the great world and an accent. Smith remained rooted in the soil of his native political culture.29


Smith’s appeal to Churchill was obvious. Tall, dark and saturnine, F.E. had a mind of lightning quickness and a power of repartee which made his fame at the Bar and at Westminster. He was one of the greatest orators in an age when that art flourished, and he was the most accomplished Parliamentary debater since Edward Stanley in the early nineteenth century. In short, he was many of the things which the small, epicene, lisping Churchill was not, but would like to have been. In turn, Churchill represented for Smith many of the things he would like to have been. Aristocratic and well-connected, Churchill bore a name which Smith honoured and possessed literary talents and personal qualities which he could admire.


But such analysis hardly does justice to the two men and their friendship. If it was partly founded on mutual admiration for qualities which each respected and lacked, its depth owed most to a common outlook. Both had entirely absorbed the social-Darwinian view of life as a struggle in which only the fittest would triumph; both were convinced of the possession of innate talents which would enable them to win through. Later, as the first Earl of Birkenhead, Smith was to scandalise the great and the good by telling an audience of undergraduates that life’s main purpose lay in winning the ‘glittering prizes’. He refused to retract; indeed, he could hardly have done so, for this was his creed as it was Churchill’s. They would both have agreed with Disraeli’s statement that ‘we are here for fame’. The Punch cartoon which had both men leaning eagerly over a life of Disraeli and spotting the parallels with their careers captured the spirit of their comradeship, even if its title, ‘Adventurers on the make’, represented the Establishment view of the pair.


F.E. had made his reputation with that maiden speech in which he had dealt Churchill a glancing blow. Before it he was a little-known MP for Walton with an Oxford reputation behind him; after it he was the great white hope of a defeated and demoralised Party. Although his detractors liked to allege that he had no principles, and F.E. liked to play up to them, the truth was otherwise. He admired the Lord Randolph Churchill depicted in the official biography – a swashbuckling adventurer with a serious purpose. The Birkenhead Unionist could not but admire the man whom he regarded as the inheritor of Disraeli’s ‘One Nation’ brand of Toryism. He had kept his distance from the renegade son at first, but soon found that they shared a common impatience with the ‘old gang’ who dominated life at Westminster.


Churchill had left the Conservative Party, declaring that its leaders had betrayed Lord Randolph’s legacy. Smith worked from within to revive ‘Tory Democracy’. It is easy to dismiss ‘Tory Democracy’ with one of Lord Randolph’s own jibes – as merely a means of getting the democracy to vote Tory. But there was nothing unnatural in such an activity. Political Parties exist to attract votes; if they fail to do so, they usually cease to exist. F.E. saw in reality what Churchill had seen only in theory, that is the existence of a democracy that was naturally Tory in many of its instincts. Outside the Liberal voting and often nonconformist ‘respectable’ working classes lay an electorate which was patriotic, monarchist, xenophobic, beer-drinking and instinctively Protestant. It might yet be captured by the ‘class-based’ politics of the new Labour Party or bribed by the social reforms of the ‘new Liberalism’, but it ought to be wooed by the Tories. It was not quite the ‘angel in the marble’ of Disraeli’s musings, but something rougher, tougher and more untamed.


The shopkeepers and the unionised forces of labour might vote Liberal, but no man reared in Birkenhead and Liverpool could be unaware of the vast ranks of ununionised labour who worked on the docks and in the shipyards. If these men voted Tory, they did not do so because they appreciated Balfour’s balancing act over tariffs. They voted for a Toryism which was firmly Unionist over Ireland and which defended the right of the free-born Englishman to drink as much as he liked. The Liberal desire to ‘improve’ the working man by restricting his opportunities to imbibe alcohol, and Gladstone’s truckling to the Irish over Home Rule, were powerful stimulants to vote Tory in a town like Birkenhead, where there was a pub on every street corner and too many Irishmen who would underbid the English when it came to wages for casual labour. A firm commitment against Irish Home Rule and against Liberal faddism was at the heart of F.E.’s political creed.


But F.E.’s fame, like Churchill’s, was not won by exercise of those virtues so beloved by the sober men in grey suits. In the green and happy days of the first flowering of their careers neither man cared about this, scorning the conventional paths to political power in favour of the unorthodox ones more suited to the exercise of their talents. But the time would come when shadows would gather, and then the cold winds of disapproval would act as a blight upon their prospects, as the grey men exacted their revenge. Only one of the two would rise again, only to find that the men in grey know when it is best to bow before the powers that be. Churchill’s relationship with F.E. was the closest friendship he ever formed, with Smith taking the dominant role in it. Churchill stood in awe of his learning and his gift of oratory.30


F.E. was a natural Conservative who had come to ‘settled and somewhat sombre conclusions upon a large number of questions, about which many people are content to remain in placid suspense’. Churchill could optimistically assume that in the elections which would be held after the grant of responsible government in South Africa, ‘a clear Boer majority is outside the bounds of possibility’.31 However, when elections were held in the Transvaal in February 1907, the Boers had a clear majority of five, and when the Orange River Colony voted in November, they won thirty out of thirty-eight seats.32 Edward VII had feared that Churchill was ‘somewhat sanguine’ in his ‘prognostications’ and, as so often, Conservative scepticism was the justified response to Liberal optimism.33 F.E. would not have made the same mistake as his friend, but their differences did not mar their comradeship.


The fatuity of his prophecies about South Africa did Churchill no harm within the Liberal Party, where his views were widely shared. Even if the outcome was not what had been expected, the Liberals could plausibly claim to have dealt with the problem of what to do with the Boers. The formation of the Union of South Africa in 1910, and the subsequent support which that Dominion gave to Britain during the Great War, was taken as a sign of the success of the line of policy which Campbell-Bannerman and Churchill had favoured.


Identified as he was with the successful resolution of the South African problem, Churchill’s general performance at the Colonial Office marked him out for further preferment. But this did not mean that he made an entirely satisfactory junior in the eyes of his superiors. There were times when Churchill’s habit of minuting his views in strong words on papers which would be read by subordinates irritated Elgin, and his ceaseless interest in all aspects of his work could lead to a lack of a sense of perspective, but there could be no doubting that the young Minister had proved himself worth his passage.34 There were, naturally, those who dissented. On the one hand were those like the Permanent Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, Sir Francis Hopwood, who, in response to the ceaseless stream of memoranda which issued from Churchill on his tour of the colonies in 1907, told Elgin that ‘He is most tiresome to deal with and will, I fear, give trouble…. The restless energy, uncontrollable desire for notoriety and the lack of moral perception make him an anxiety indeed!’35 On the other was Churchill himself, who by late 1907 felt that he had done more than enough to warrant promotion to the Cabinet.36


There had been rumours in late 1906 that Churchill was to be promoted, and it is testimony to Elgin’s largeness of character as well as to Churchill’s abilities that he should have written to him in December to say that ‘I have been dreading every post to find the rumours true and that I was to lose your help.’37 Campbell-Bannerman wrote to Churchill in September 1907 to congratulate him on his part in the settlement of the South African issue and Churchill seems to have interpreted this as a sign that he might get into the Cabinet whilst in his current post. The problem with that, however, as he told his mother in October, was that They are afraid that Elgin’s position would become very difficult, he being such an unassertive fellow.’38 It was characteristic of him to assume that this was the only obstacle in his way, but Churchill underestimated Campbell-Bannerman. That cautious Scotsman believed in letting youth work its passage; promotion, if it came, would do so only slowly – at least as long as he remained Prime Minister.39


However, Campbell-Bannerman was an old and ailing man. His obvious successor, Asquith, was more favourably disposed to the young Minister. Except in times of crisis the Yorkshire grit inherited from Asquith’s background was hidden beneath an aristocratic manner acquired at Oxford and cultivated assiduously since his second marriage to Margot Tennant. Daughter of the chemicals magnate, Sir Charles Tennant, and one of the numerous clan which intermarried into most branches of political life, Margot was a woman with immense ambitions for her husband; indeed, before her marriage to Asquith, it was rumoured that she would marry Arthur Balfour, who commented, upon being informed of this: ‘No, I had rather thought of having a career of my own.’ She considered Asquith’s first wife, Helen, as unsuitable because she lived in Hampstead and never entertained; neither charge could have been levelled against Margot.40 At the time of his daughter’s engagement, Sir Charles Tennant had commented of Asquith that ‘She has smartened him up wonderfully, you would hardly know him.’41 Those sour puritans of ascetic habit who are always to be found amongst the ranks of the radicals were apt to dismiss him as ‘a raw middle-class radical with a character deteriorated by a vulgar society of another sort and by a free use of wine which he cannot carry’.42 But such comments ignored Asquith’s formidable political skills.


The ‘cold, hard, unsympathetic’43 Asquith was bound to suffer when compared with the venerable and much loved ‘C-B’, but the fact was that the Government he had inherited in 1908 was in deep, perhaps even terminal, trouble. On the one hand came the criticism from the radicals and Labour that it had not done enough in the field of social reform; on the other came attacks from some of its own middle-class supporters and the Unionists that what it had done was costly and destructive.44 An education bill, plural voting and a land reform bill had all perished at the hands of the House of Lords, and by late 1907 the euphoria of the previous year had given way to demoralisation. The ailing Campbell-Bannerman was not the man to transform this situation; the ambitious Asquith was. Even before coming to power he was giving thought to the composition of a Ministry which would regain the political initiative. His feelings for Churchill were complex and may best be described as a slightly patronising, rueful admiration. Recognition of ‘genius’ was accompanied by fears about his rashness; Asquith was, however, confident enough of his own powers to think that he could utilise the former whilst restraining the latter.45


The question of where to accommodate Churchill was not easily solved. In his last Cabinet reshuffle, Campbell-Bannerman had considered whether he might not be sent to the Board of Education, despite being ‘wholly ignorant and indifferent to the subject’. He was disabused of this idea by John Morley who, incredulous at the idea of Churchill as ‘umpire between Church and Chapel’, told him that it would be ‘both ridiculous and a scandal’. As the Prime Minister had his own doubts about appointing a ‘Liberal of yesterday’ whose ‘tomorrow is doubtful’, Churchill had remained where he was.46 But Asquith had more radical ideas on how to employ such a figure.


In March he suggested that Churchill might care for the Local Government Board. As Churchill had recently taken to making pronouncements on social issues, this suggestion was not as odd as it sounded; but it held little attraction for its intended occupant. The work was ‘laborious’ and ‘choked with petty and even squalid detail’, Churchill told Asquith. Protesting that he knew nothing about its affairs, Churchill said that he would rather stay at the Colonial Office under Elgin.47 ‘Being shut up in a soup kitchen with Mrs Sidney Webb’ is how Churchill is supposed to have responded to Asquith’s suggestion,48 but there are good reasons for supposing that Churchill was not wholly averse to such an encounter.
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5


The ‘New’ Liberal





It used to be said of the Liberals that their Party resembled the Kingdom of Heaven – at least in so far as it was a ‘house’ which contained ‘many mansions’; three such may be observed within the Edwardian Liberal Party and it is significant that Churchill had affiliations with only two of them. The one strand of Liberalism with which Churchill had little contact was the one to which most Liberals adhered – the Gladstonian tradition. Represented in the Cabinet by Gladstone’s biographer, John Morley, the Gladstonians saw Liberalism as primarily a moral crusade concerned with peace, economy and freedom. They had been happy to support Campbell-Bannerman, who was a leader in their own tradition; they were less happy about his successor. Asquith had been identified with Rosebery and the Liberal imperialist wing of the Party, which had supported the Boer War, but he could just as easily have been associated with the ‘New Liberalism’ by 1908.1 Churchill’s progress in Liberalism followed a path not dissimilar to his leader.


‘C-B’ may have been the darling of the Gladstonians, but nothing in his period of office suggested that he and his creed had answers to the problems of the new century; it was no longer enough to utter the old war-cries of ‘peace, retrenchment and reform’.2 The work of ‘social investigators’ like Seebohm Rowntree and Sidney and Beatrice Webb had revealed to a shocked country the true ‘condition of England’, where families huddled together in slum tenements in industrial cities in the richest nation in the world, and where prostitution, poverty and unemployment were the lot of many. Churchill’s own lot had been cast in a quite different England, but he could hardly avoid being aware of the work of the Webbs and Rowntree, and the picture they painted was not one which he could reconcile with England’s destiny: ‘I can see little glory in an Empire which can rule the waves and is unable to flush its sewers.’3


No single Party held a monopoly of concern about the ‘condition of England’. Beatrice Webb, the most formidable of the Fabians, who concealed and constrained her passions by channelling them into social investigation and good works, believed that salvation lay in the application of the scientific method to social problems. She hoped that politicians of all Parties would be ‘permeated’ by the ideas which the Fabians and other ‘experts’ adumbrated. It was not, as Richard Haldane asserted in 1891, the function of politicians to ‘mould ideas’; that was the duty of intellectuals and universities.4 Mrs Webb had first looked towards Balfour to carry out her ideas on how to deal with social problems, but getting little from that source, she had cast her eyes towards the Liberal Government: ‘it looms as progressive in its direction and all the active factors are collectivism.’5 Unfortunately, Campbell-Bannerman was not much inclined to favour the ‘active factors’.


Asquith could not afford to remain supine. His motive in offering Churchill the Local Government Board had been to try to remove one of the main obstacles to radical social reform: its President, John Burns. The Board was the department most closely concerned with social questions and it had been natural for Mrs Webb and company to look to Burns for action. But the Board was hidebound by its own bureaucracy and unreceptive to advice from outside ‘experts’, whilst Burns, whose initial good intentions had come to naught, was being written off by Mrs Webb as a ‘monstrosity’, who ‘talks incessantly and never listens to anyone except the officials to whom he must listen in order to accomplish the routine work of his office’.6 But Burns did not want to move, and Asquith did not want to remove the only ‘working-class’ member of his Cabinet. If Churchill would not and could not have the Board, he would have the Board of Trade, which would become, faute de mieux, the focus of legislation on social policy.


Churchill’s ‘Tory Democratic’ background gave him a rhetorical interest in the lot of the masses, but when Mrs Webb had quizzed him in 1904, she had found him ‘completely ignorant of all social questions’ and his ideas a ‘quaint jumble of old-fashioned radicalism and mere Toryism’, with the former in the ascendant as he wished to appear ‘advanced’.7 By 1906 Churchill had added some of the ‘new’ Liberalism to the ingredients noted by Mrs Webb. Speaking in Glasgow in October 1906 he declared that it was not possible to ‘draw a hard and fast line between individualism and collectivism’. Having known nothing in 1904 about Mrs Webb’s scheme for a ‘national minimum’, he was now advocating ‘the universal establishment of minimum standards of life and labour’.8 Churchill read the newspapers avidly and followed the political debate the way some of his colleagues followed the Turf guide; always eager for new knowledge, he sucked in what people like the Webbs were writing. He was a ‘political linguist’ of great gifts, and he picked up the language of the radicals speedily at need. He set out his ideas more fully in an article in The Nation on 7 March 1908 called ‘The Untrodden Field in Politics’.9 It was entirely in character for him to assume that any field he had not walked upon was ‘untrodden’.


That Churchill should have published such a piece when the talk at Westminster was all of the impending political changes which would follow Asquith’s succession to the Premiership was a sign of his acuteness. A few weeks before his article was published Churchill had dined with the Webbs. In sharp contradistinction to an earlier occasion, when he had been ‘egotistical, bumptious, shallow-minded and reactionary’,10 Churchill was ‘very anxious to be friends and asked to be allowed to come and discuss the long-term question’ with the Webbs.11 At another dinner on 20 February Mrs Webb wrote that he ‘made me sit next to him and was most obsequious – eager to assure me that he was willing to absorb all the plans we could give him’.12 What the acidulous Beatrice missed was the purpose behind Churchill’s quizzing – he was preparing himself for the Board of Trade. Churchill may not have had any great insight into how to deal with the social problems of the masses, but he knew a lady who did. If Mrs Webb was anxious to be part of a secular priesthood, ‘disinterested experts’ devising ‘a blueprint for society’, then Churchill was eager to grant her wish.13


Churchill’s article advocated Webbian solutions to the problem of unemployment and identified him with the ‘new’ Liberalism just as it was about to come into the forefront of Liberal politics. It also strengthened his claim to an important domestic political office. Even whilst professing his unworthiness for the Local Government Board, Churchill had sounded like a man with more ideas than its President (although it must be admitted that it would have been difficult to have had fewer ideas than Burns). It was not surprising that Asquith, who was looking for a revitalised programme of social legislation, should have responded to Churchill’s statement that, ‘dimly across gulfs of ignorance’, he saw the Outline of a policy which I call the Minimum Standard’,14 by making him President of the Board of Trade.


Before 1911 a change of office meant that Ministers had to submit themselves for re-election; 1908 was not a good year for a Liberal to do so. The Party was to lose eight by-elections, squeezed between the Socialists on the one hand and the resurgent Unionists on the other.15 Contrary to Churchill’s confident expectations in 1906, tariff reform was not dead as a political issue, and militant Unionism proclaimed it as the road to salvation for a country which was suffering from a growth in unemployment and a rise in imports. Moreover, the Unionists were well-placed to receive the middle-class vote, which wanted to protest against what it saw as a standard of living being eroded by Liberal concessions to organised labour. The Labour Party on the other hand was equally well-placed to pick up the votes of those disgruntled workers who felt that the Liberals were not doing enough for them.16


If 1908 was not a good time to be seeking re-election as a Liberal, then it was the worst possible time for a renegade Conservative to do so in the north-west. With the Unionist Free Fooders who had helped elect him in 1906 now virtually eliminated, and in the face of a revivified Unionist Party, Churchill was in trouble from the very start of his campaign. The intervention of H.G. Wells in his favour may have been a mark of how some Fabians supported him, but it counted for little else. When the result came in, Churchill found that he had lost by 429 votes; a 6.4 per cent swing had let in Mr Joynson-Hicks, who, twenty years on, would be his Cabinet colleague. Unionist delight was unbounded: ‘What is the use of a W.C. without a seat?’, was merely one of the bons mots circulated. It was a measure of how much Churchill was disliked that his old Party took such joy in his discomfiture. But Asquith wanted him at the Board of Trade and a safe seat at Dundee was made vacant for him. Churchill’s mind readily drew parallels from the 1880s: for the second time in twenty-five years an English Liberal would stump a Scottish constituency declaring that there was a moral crusade to be won.17


Liberals of an older vintage could have been forgiven if they had thought that the great days of Mr Gladstone at Midlothian had come again. Declaring that he had come to unfurl ‘the old flag of civil freedom and social justice under which your fathers conquered’, Churchill set about his opponents with gusto. The House of Lords, which had killed so many Liberal bills, was ‘filled with doddering old peers, cute financial magnates, clever wirepullers, big brewers with bulbous noses’ and ‘all the enemies of progress’. As for the Socialists, he dealt with them at the same time as rebutting charges that there was no difference between them and the Liberals: ‘Socialism wants to pull down wealth, Liberalism seeks to raise up poverty’; the one was destructive, the other constructive.18 As for Mr Scrymgeour, the prohibitionist, he was a ‘hen-dim figure’, worth commenting about only in retrospect. The victory was overwhelming. Churchill collected forty-four per cent of the total vote and had a majority of nearly three thousand over the Unionist.


Churchill seized the opportunity thus offered to appear in two guises. The content of his rhetoric identified him with the ‘new’ Liberalism, whilst his style proclaimed him as a radical scourge of his former Party. It was as an ally of Lloyd George and an advocate of the most ‘advanced’ social policy that Churchill took his place at the centre of Asquith’s use of the ‘new’ Liberalism.


David Lloyd George was the ‘white hope’ of radical Liberalism. A Welshman (despite being born in Manchester) from a poor background, Lloyd George spoke the language of the political left as easily as he did that of his native land. As a radical solicitor he had fought the battle of the Welsh peasantry against their English and Anglicised landlords. He had sprung to national prominence during the Boer War for his bitter attacks on Chamberlain and the ‘jingoes’. ‘C-B’ had made him President of the Board of Trade, where, contrary to the hopes of some, his radicalism had not been dimmed by the pressures of office.19 A mercurial figure of great charm and persuasiveness, it was hardly surprising that Lloyd George should have captivated his successor at the Board of Trade. If Churchill wished to learn the language and mores of the ‘new’ Liberalism, Lloyd George was willing to teach him.


The Gladstonian tradition had no remedies for the problems of unemployment, low wages and poverty – which was where the ‘new’ Liberalism came into its own. With Lloyd George as Chancellor and Churchill at the Board of Trade, Asquith had equipped himself with two Ministers whose eclecticism would avoid the perils of a doctrinaire approach, but who would, by their energy, infuse life into a government which seemed to be running out of steam. The ‘heavenly twins’ (as the two men became known) became a conduit through which the ideas of people like the Webbs and their protégé, William Beveridge, were channelled into political life; but the conduit was not a straight one and the water which passed through it was diluted and altered by all manner of considerations. The Webbs and Beveridge were social scientists, Lloyd George and Churchill were practical politicians – a marriage of convenience could be arranged, but it was bound to end in tears for the ideologues.20


One of the first items on which Churchill sought the help of the ‘experts’ was the problem of the labour market: there were people without jobs and jobs which had no people. How could this state of affairs be altered? Churchill’s practical mind was not bounded by the tenets of Gladstonian Liberalism, which shied away from government interference with the iron laws of economic reality. In this he was at one with the ‘new’ Liberalism, which, in the search for solutions to problems, allowed ethical and social factors to outweigh purely economic ones.21 The question of how far the state should intervene in economic affairs and the relationship between it and the individual was still fluid.22 Social ‘scientists’ and progressive thinkers like the Webbs and their peers sought to use the powers of the state in a constructive way, but they did not deny that there was a place for individual morality. Mrs Webb, for example, opposed a national system of unemployment insurance on the ground that ‘the state gets nothing for its money in the way of conduct’.23 The concept of the ‘deserving poor’ was far from dead. Even Ramsay MacDonald, the Labour leader, thought it necessary to declare that his Party had no sympathy with ‘the loafer and shirker of work who tried to batten and fatten on public funds’.24 The question facing Asquith and company was how to translate their social concern into policy on unemployment, poverty and associated problems: this was where they needed the intellectuals.


The impression left on Beatrice Webb after talking with Churchill and other politicians on 10 February 1908 had been of a ‘scramble for new constructive ideas. We happen now to have a good many to give away, hence the eagerness for our company. Every politician one meets wants to be “coached”.’25 It was not for her beaux yeux that Churchill cultivated the imperious Mrs Webb’s company. Eclectic in his intellectual voracity, he took ideas from her, from Beveridge, from his civil servants, from studying the German example and from talking things over with Lloyd George. He was not, as Beveridge noticed, ‘at all points clear’ about what was meant by concepts like ‘labour exchanges’, but he took them into his repertoire all the same, which meant that ‘you never know what he is going to hand back to you afterwards as his version of your idea’.26


By the autumn of 1908 Churchill was fluent enough in his new language to impress even Mrs Webb, who thought him ‘brilliantly able – more than a phrase-monger’. Her praise never came unalloyed with gall, so she wondered if it was the case that ‘he puts that side forward to me’; but she did conclude that ‘he could not do it so well if he did not agree with it somewhat’.27 The question of how far Churchill agreed ‘with it’ is an intriguing irrelevance. He was a politician with a job to do and he needed ‘experts’ and information with which to do it. His generous heart revolted at the spectacle of widespread poverty, but his head still had to acquire the means of acting to solve it – hence Churchill’s interest in the Webbs and their ilk. It was only when the price to be paid for such action began to appear unacceptably high that Churchill began to query where the road upon which he had embarked with such gusto was leading. It was ever his way to so immerse himself in his own concerns that his perception of what was happening outside his vision was never strong.


Churchill was not only a man of action, he was also someone who liked to have a grandiose governing idea behind that activity, and this was provided for him at the Board of Trade by the Webbs’ concept of the ‘national minimum’. The problems facing him at the Board of Trade were various and complex and to deal with them piecemeal would not satisfy his craving for action on a grand and heroic scale. He could not be a petty bureaucrat, but with an idea like the ‘national minimum’ he did not have to be. It offered a readily identifiable label, which could be attached to a complicated series of problems. The idea of ‘spreading a net’ to save the poorest also implied a springboard from which the industrious could launch themselves upwards. Speaking in Dundee in October 1908, Churchill asserted the Government’s responsibility to provide the social organisation necessary to counteract fluctuations in the labour market. He identified three basic faults: the lack of any central organisation for industry and for controlling government spending on relief work; an increasing pool of unqualified, casual labour; and a growth in child labour. His suggested solution to the first problem was the pure milk of the Webb doctrine, the establishment of a department with responsibility for ‘increasing temporarily and artificially the demand for labour during a period of temporary and artificial contraction’. On the second point it was necessary to enact legislation which would deal with wage levels to prevent ‘sweated labour’; whilst on the third, more children must be educated for longer: this would not only do away with the scandal of child labour, but it would also provide a better-educated workforce.28


These ideas came from the Webbs and Beveridge and by themselves were worthy but dull – certainly not the fodder of a political campaign. What Churchill did was to invest them with his own, highly charged, romantic vision. Who else would have addressed the problem of child labour by referring to its victims as ‘the heirs of all our exertion, the inheritors of that long treasure of history and romance, of science and knowledge – aye, of national glory, for which so many valiant generations have fought’? ‘Soon’, he reminded his audience, ‘our brief lives will be lived’ and ‘uncounted generations will trample heedlessly upon our tombs. What is the use of living, if it be not to strive for noble causes and to make this muddled world a better place for those who will live in it after we are gone?’ It was the rhetoric of the Victorian romantic harnessing the Victorian faith in science and progress. In his peroration Churchill declared his confidence that ‘we are marching towards better days. Humanity will not be cast down.’29


If Churchill the orator transformed the details of social legislation into a grand vision of progress and prosperity for all, then it was the task of Churchill the Minister to cast these things into legislative form. This he did in a memorandum to the Cabinet on 11 December 1908. Drawing on ideas culled from the Webbs, Beveridge and the Germans, Churchill argued for the creation of labour exchanges as the means of mitigating fluctuations in the labour market. There would also be a system of unemployment insurance covering the three million men employed in the building, engineering and shipbuilding trades. Writing to Asquith on 29 December, Churchill put forward his arguments for ‘a tremendous policy of social organisation’, which would include a national system of health insurance, the establishment of state-run enterprises, a modernised Poor Law, state control of an amalgamated railway system and compulsory education of children until the age of seventeen; his aim was ‘to thrust a big slice of Bismarckianism over the whole underside of our industrial system’.30 Whether or not Mrs Webb had been right in supposing that Churchill ‘hardly comprehended the philosophy’ behind her ideas, she was accurate in noting that he had ‘the American’s capacity for the quick appreciation and rapid execution of new ideas’.31


What Churchill also possessed was a Prime Minister who was sympathetic to his aims and, in Lloyd George, a Chancellor who would take the lead on social reform. If Churchill’s friendship with F. E. Smith centred around the private sphere, it was otherwise with Lloyd George; but in both cases Churchill was the junior partner. Lloyd George shared Churchill’s obsessive interest in politics, but in their private lives they shared only a taste for the best. Churchill, who did not marry until 1908, was almost a model of marital fidelity, whilst Lloyd George was a womaniser of such assiduity that his career would have been destroyed many times in an age with a more enquiring press. Where Churchill was transparent in his political manoeuvrings, even when he thought he was being tortuous, Lloyd George was ‘a veritable corkscrew’.32 But they were both inspired by the ambition to be great men and to achieve great things and for a while they trod the same road.


Lloyd George’s quest for fame left him time to pursue a consuming interest in women, but Churchill’s character was very different. Lloyd George could have said with MacHeath that he liked women because ‘nothing unbends the mind like them’, but Churchill would not have agreed. Lloyd George had ‘never met anyone with such a passion for politics’ as Churchill. Even ‘after his marriage he commenced talking politics … in the vestry and was quite oblivious of the fact that he had to take out the bride’.33 This was not untypical. Churchill suffered, like so many men, from the fact that education and employment had conspired to keep him from being comfortable in female company. He had no small talk for the dinner table, where his main topic of conversation tended to be himself.34 His romantic dalliances had been few and chaste. Indeed, his main passion was for politics, and even his literary work fell by the wayside. Churchill wrote primarily for money and with his Ministerial salary filling his bachelor’s coffers he had no need to write. The only material issuing from his pen during this period was a collection of his speeches and a book of articles about his visit to East Africa when he was at the Colonial Office. The young Minister was learning his craft and there were as few distractions as a single-minded determination to succeed could contrive.


But it should not be imagined that the young Churchill led a life of monastic seclusion; the Edwardian age allowed ample room for combining politics with a full social diary. Churchill had little interest in what might be called high culture; his programme of education had not included music or paintings, and his literary interests were confined to a few classics. Away from politics his main interests were those which required purely masculine company. He and F.E. revelled in their membership of the Oxfordshire Yeomanry, and Churchill enjoyed the comradeship which it provided as well as the opportunities for military action which it afforded. He shared with Lloyd George and F.E. a taste for the company of the Edwardian nouveaux riches, who spent their money ostentatiously on grand parties, yachts and on enjoying life to the full; neither Liberal saw any incongruity between this and their political activities – a view not shared by all members of their Party.


It was at a ball given at the London home of Lord Crewe (one of his colleagues in Government) that Churchill first met Clementine Hozier, the woman whom he was to marry. It was not until 1906, however, that their acquaintanceship ripened into anything more, and Clementine quickly discovered that politics was her main rival and one with which she would be wise not to compete. In August 1908 during a house-party at Blenheim, Churchill finally summoned up the courage to propose.35 Prudence might have indicated a need for caution. Miss Hozier had a record of jilting her fiancés and, although beautiful, she was not rich – a qualification which an impecunious politician might have borne in mind. But it was hardly to be expected that Churchill’s temperament, so romantic in the arid fields of social reform, would be any less so when it came to love. To those who knew only the conceited and self-advertising politician, Churchill in love would have come as a surprise. He was, as Scawen Blunt noted, ‘gentle and tender, and affectionate to those he loves’.36 A long engagement was anathema to Churchill; if he was to be married, it should be as soon as could be decently contrived. Having been accepted by Clementine on 11 August he married her on 12 September, with his old friend, Lord Hugh Cecil, as best man. It was a sign of his celebrity that the marriage was the ‘news event’ of the month. In My Early Life Churchill wrote that they then lived ‘happily ever after’,37 which was a pretty romantic conceit, and the fact that nobody ever does should not disguise the happiness marriage brought him.


Churchill was a gregarious man, but he had lived his life in a series of institutions where human contact was, although frequent, relatively shallow. Public school, Sandhurst, the Army and Parliament all provided him with the audience he craved, but they did nothing to give him anything in the way of family life; marriage altered this state of affairs. For the first time he had a family life of his own and he luxuriated in the emotional comforts which it afforded to his own inner need for stability and affection. In 1909 he and Clementine bought a house – 33 Eccleston Square, near Victoria Station and the House of Commons – and later that year their first child, Diana, was born. The experience of having a person who loved him for himself and not for anything he might achieve brought out the sentimental and affectionate side of his character. ‘Clemmie’ was his ‘Kat’ and he was her ‘Pug’ or Pig’, and he would adorn his signature with drawings of little pigs. Clementine’s own interest in politics was limited, but she was a staunch Liberal and encouraged his friendship with social reformers like Charles Masterman (Burns’s junior at the Local Government Board) and the Webbs. She was less keen on her husband’s friendship with the hard-drinking F.E., whom she believed encouraged him to drink and gamble – but there are some spheres where even the best wife is ill-advised to tread, and Clementine had to accept that F.E. and Winston were inseparable. When their next child, Randolph, was christened in 1911, he took his second name, Frederick, from F.E., who was one of his godfathers; the fact that his other godfather was the Foreign Secretary, Sir Edward Grey, represented a sensible compromise. But Clementine was content to leave the political sphere to her husband; she did not seek to emulate Margot Asquith or other ‘political’ wives.38


Whether Lloyd George’s tale of Clementine being kept waiting whilst he and Winston discussed politics in the vestry is true or not, it contains a symbolic truth – politics was Churchill’s consuming interest. Conscious as he was of his own brilliance, Churchill was prepared to describe Lloyd George as ‘the greatest political genius of the day’. It was the Chancellor who ‘resolved upon the necessity for a constructive social policy’ and who ‘selected and “imported” with great skill four units’: labour exchanges, a ‘sweated trades wages scheme’, a national insurance bill and an unemployment bill.39 ‘Large measures of Finance and Unemployment’ would, Churchill thought, ‘dignify and justify our retention of office’.40 But they would do more than that. It would be too cynical to conclude, with Mrs Webb, that Churchill’s concern with economic and social problems stemmed merely from a realisation that ‘no government can now ignore them’.41 Fame’ and renown remained his goals and, as he reminded Asquith at the end of 1908, the enacting of an ‘impressive social policy’ would ‘leave an abiding mark on national history’. It might, of course, fail to win elections, but ‘the Minister who will apply to this country’ the ‘German’ model in social policy ‘will at least have left a memorial which time will not deface of his administration’.42


Not everyone, however, was enamoured of the enhanced place given to the ‘new’ Liberalism, or of the behaviour of the ‘heavenly twins’. Charles Hobhouse, the Financial Secretary to the Treasury, disliked the ‘personal discourtesy’ shown by Churchill to his opponents and blamed him for the ‘disappearance of that harmony’ which had been a feature of Campbell-Bannerman’s Cabinets.43 But objections went deeper than personal dislike of Churchill or of Lloyd George. Commitment to social policy meant an increase in government expenditure and, at a time when a ‘balanced budget’ was an article of financial faith, the question of how to raise the money was bound to bring out the tensions existing between the various strands of Liberalism.


As the Unionists had already found, governing an Empire which faced challenges from abroad as well as problems at home was an expensive business. Chamberlain had sought to square the circle through tariff reform, which he said would make the ‘foreigner pay’. The Liberals rejected any such course, but they still had to find an answer to the problem of how to spend money on ‘guns and butter’ at the same time as expenditure on both was rising. Unionists predicted that a ‘cheese-paring Cobdenite Cabinet’ would ruin the Empire in order to provide old-age pensions,44 and Lloyd George and Churchill were soon identified as the chief villains in this respect. Churchill’s attitude towards defence expenditure during these years has remained a source of embarrassment to his biographers as it sits so incongruously with his behaviour after 1910 and before 1939; but the explanation for it is not far to seek. To attribute it all to Lloyd George’s influence is to go too far. Churchill always had a tendency to assume that his own departmental interests should come before any wider concerns, and at the Board of Trade this meant competing with Service departments for money; it was easy to predict how Churchill would react to claims for higher defence spending. Moreover, as Mrs Webb had noticed in July 1903, Churchill was ‘at heart a Little Englander’, who looked to ‘the haute finance to keep the peace’.45 Like many Liberals who believed in ‘progress’, Churchill liked to think that the most civilised parts of the human race had advanced beyond the point where a recourse to arms to settle disputes was necessary. From conviction and departmental self-interest Churchill was inclined to agree with Lloyd George that the defence estimates could be pruned to provide money for their own programmes.


It was at this point, where the demand for social legislation clashed with the needs of national defence and the requirements of sound finance, that the Asquith Government threatened to fall apart; that it did not do so was due almost entirely to the political and tactical skills of the Prime Minister. Asquith’s talents, unlike those of Lloyd George and Churchill, were not such as to invite the enthusiasm of posterity. His oratory was good, but not inspiring, and he lacked the charisma of his two lieutenants; but he possessed what neither of them did – a massive fund of common sense and patience. Given the behaviour of some of his colleagues, Asquith was to find these qualities indispensable.


Churchill had challenged the Secretary of State for War, Richard Haldane, in May 1908 over his plans for the reorganisation of the Army, alleging that they were too extravagant; any money saved could be spent on social policy. Haldane, paranoid as only a War Minister in a Cabinet full of Liberals can be, thought that he saw the hairy hand of Lloyd George behind this. Churchill’s plan would have stopped him from sending an expeditionary force to France in the event of war with Germany and thereby have dealt a blow to Sir Edward Grey’s foreign policy. What the radical element in the Cabinet was unaware of was that, soon after coming to office, Grey had authorised the opening of Staff talks with the French military; so Churchill had no conception of just how much damage his proposals would do.46 Rumours abounded, with The Times reporting that Haldane would soon be removed to the Woolsack to be replaced by Churchill.47 There was no foundation in the story, but it was symptomatic of the Unionist fear that the radical element in the Cabinet would seize control.


On that occasion Churchill’s challenge had come to naught. The Cabinet committee set up to examine his proposals came down against them. Haldane was able to show that in size and type, the British Army was smaller and less expensive than its foreign counterparts. He also took issue with Churchill’s sanguine assumption that there was no military danger to be apprehended from Germany. Although defeated, Churchill was not convinced. Speaking at a miners’ rally in Swansea on 15 August 1908, Churchill repudiated suggestions that war with Germany was inevitable. There was, he declared, no point at issue between Britain and Germany and it would be financial madness for them to fight each other.48 This was not an attitude which boded well for Asquith’s prospects of being able to get the Cabinet to sanction the increases in naval expenditure which would be necessary to keep his pledge to maintain British naval supremacy.49


Traditionally Britain was committed to maintain the ‘Two Power’ standard, which Asquith defined in December 1908 as ‘a predominance of ten per cent over the combined strengths in capital ships, of the next two naval powers’.50 The Unionists, who thought that the Government could not be trusted with such matters, kept a sharp eye on its activities. The Liberal First Lord of the Admiralty, Reginald McKenna, was one of the few exceptions to this Unionist distrust. An efficient bureaucrat, McKenna was largely in the hands of his First Sea Lord, Sir John Fisher. Since 1905 Britain had built four Dreadnoughts a year, but with rumours abounding that the Germans were also building at this rate, the press whipped up a public agitation, encouraged surreptitiously by Fisher; the slogan of this campaign was: ‘We want eight and we won’t wait.’ In January 1909 the Admiralty formally requested an increase in the naval construction programme for 1909–10 to eight Dreadnoughts.51 This precipitated a political crisis within the Cabinet.


In an impassioned thirteen-page letter to Asquith on 2 February 1909, Lloyd George warned that the problem ‘threatens to reopen all the old controversies which rent the Party for years and brought it to impotence and contempt’. He asked the Prime Minister not to commit himself to the ‘very crude and ill-considered Admiralty demands’ without listening to himself, Churchill, John Morley and others who thought like them. There were, he warned, ‘millions of earnest Liberals in the country who are beginning rather to lose confidence in the Government’; for the most part this was for reasons beyond the Government’s control, but if the Cabinet deliberately threw over their pledges of ‘economy’, then such Liberals would ‘break out into open sedition’. If this happened, Lloyd George warned, it would not just be a few radicals making a noise – ‘the usefulness of this Parliament will be at an end’.52 Churchill took the same line.


From a radical Welsh solicitor who had opposed the Boer War, such sentiments were only to be expected, but for a scion of the house of Churchill to share them was something which required explanation; most of those provided were unflattering. Lord Knollys, the King’s Private Secretary, opined that ‘it cannot be from conviction or principle as the very idea of his having either is enough to make anyone laugh’.53 Another courtier, though one of a more political hue, Lord Esher, thought that it was all quite simple: Churchill aspired to the leadership of the radical wing of the Liberal Party.54 Esher did not share the Court’s low opinion of Churchill. A man who prided himself upon his genius for friendship and his reading of character, Esher’s political experience went back to the days of Lord Randolph, and he reminded Churchill of the fate that had awaited his father when he had resigned over a similar issue; to resign on an issue where the public were against you was to court political ‘ruin’.55


In all political crises there is a certain amount of shadow-boxing and posturing for the benefit of supporters, and whilst Asquith was occasionally tempted by irritation at the behaviour of the ‘heavenly twins’ to ‘summarily … cashier them both’, he restrained himself – and kept the Cabinet intact.56 In Asquith’s eyes the issue was not really one of finance, but rather one of ‘security’. ‘No surplus,’ he thought, ‘however large, would justify the laying down of a ship that was not needed for security’, and equally, ‘no deficit can justify the failure to lay down any number of ships that are so needed’.57 Asquith’s forensic skills carved out a solution which avoided resignations. On 25 February it was decided that six ships would be built, with two more tacked on to the estimates for the following year. This allowed the Government to claim that it was building eight ships at the rate of four a year. Churchill was despondent, foreseeing possible defeat for the Government ahead; but he remained in office – Lord Randolph’s shadow was a long one. It was, however, now necessary to find money for the new naval programme and for social reform.58


It might be overly cynical to say that the famous ‘People’s budget’ was a device for pulling the Liberal Government back together, but that was certainly one of its effects. The fact was that unless more money could be found from some source, then the quarrels of 1909 would be repeated in successive years, and with the Government’s unity having been preserved only with difficulty, Asquith was not anxious for that. Lloyd George’s budget, by increasing income tax and introducing a ‘supertax’, promised a solution to the problem. Chamberlain had said let ‘the foreigner pay’; Lloyd George said ‘squeeze the rich’. The Gladstonians could rest easy about free trade, the Liberal imperialists could do the same about national defence, whilst the ‘new’ Liberals could rejoice that their social programme would be paid for. But for these things a price would have to be paid.
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The Limits of Radicalism





Churchill’s rhetoric, like his manners and his association with Lloyd George, gave an easy credibility to the charges levelled by his enemies that he was an extreme radical; after all, having fled the fold of pure Conservatism, who could put a limit to the leftward march of a Churchill in pursuit of political advantage? For this view Churchill had only himself and his name to blame. Lord Randolph’s political eccentricities were still remembered, and to a generation brought up on Macaulay’s picture of the first Duke of Marlborough, it was almost second-nature to adopt the view attributed to Gladstone: ‘Who ever heard of a Churchill with principles?’ Men who change their Party in British political life do so at a permanent cost in reputation. To this natural concomitant of political infidelity, Churchill added coals of fire which were of his own devising. For the President of the Budget League to stump the country vying with Lloyd George in devising insults to fling at the aristocracy may have been natural, but when the man doing so was the grandson of one Duke and, the cousin of another, who retired to Blenheim Palace to recuperate from his labours, it was not surprising that he was accused of ‘a lack of common decency’ and suspected of humbug.1


What such behaviour reflected was Churchill’s very aristocratic disdain for the opinion of others, as well as an egotism which was purely his own. Churchill’s perception of others was always very tenuous. He was concerned for the ‘masses’ in the way a great landowner is for his tenants, but he had little contact with them on an individual basis. He would talk to his valet, by whom he would be dressed and who would run his bath for him. He would rarely set eyes on the cook who prepared his meals or the maids who kept Eccleston Square tidy. He might address a word to the cab-man who drove him to work, but he was a stranger to public transport. Churchill lived the life normal for a man of his class; it put him in a position to improve the lot of the masses, but hardly to understand them. It was easy for his Unionist critics to accuse him of hypocrisy and of betraying the order into which he was born, but their anger blinded them to something which was clear to Liberals like Lloyd George and Masterman – that Churchill was a profoundly conservative man. He accepted the social order which gave him such privileges without question and he wanted to preserve it. He wanted to extend some of its benefits to the dispossessed and his generous nature revolted at the conditions in which some of his countrymen lived; but there were limits as to how far he was prepared to go. These were revealed by the events of 1910–11. When Lloyd George and Masterman teased him that their campaign against the Lords was the first step on the road to revolution, he replied, ‘If this is what it leads to, you must be prepared for me to leave you!’2


Where Lloyd George had a genuine hatred of what he termed ‘landlordism’, which derived from his own youth and which made him relish the prospect of a full-blown constitutional crisis, Churchill was quite different. His radicalism was that of the Whig grandee who saw it as the duty of his order to ensure that those social and political changes which were needful for political stability were not blocked by vested interests; change in order to preserve. As Masterman’s wife observed: ‘Winston, of course, is not a democrat, or at least he is a Tory democrat.’3 The theme of his speeches during his Lancashire campaign in December was not the budget itself, but rather the dangers of an unelected chamber frustrating the will of the people. His speeches generally struck a sober note. In contrast to Lloyd George, ‘both his defence of the Budget and his indictment of the House of Lords were fair, reasoned and statesmanlike, free from vulgarity, cheap sentiment or class cat-calls’.4


Asquith, who was not given to cheap compliments, wrote to Churchill on 1 February to congratulate him on his work: ‘Your speeches from first to last have reached high-water mark and will live in history.’5 Nor could the ranks of Tuscany forbear to cheer. Lord Curzon, one of the leading Unionists, had told the people of Oldham that ‘all civilisation has been the work of aristocracies’, and had received for his pains one of Churchill’s finely honed shafts of satire. There was not, Churchill said, a ‘duke, a marquis, an earl or a viscount in Oldham who will not feel that a compliment has been paid to him’. Curzon freely admitted that Churchill had mounted a ‘very remarkable Lancashire campaign’.6 Margot Asquith, fearing that Churchill might slip back into his old ways, told him that the King had hinted that ‘if you w[oul]d just keep up that moderation of language wh[ich] had struck so many in this election, you w[oul]d not be at all unappreciated’; ‘cheap scores, hen-roost phrases and all oratorical want of dignity is out of date’.7 Churchill was the acceptable face of radical Liberalism; it was only his past associations which blinded Unionists to this fact.


The result of the election certainly seemed to confirm that extremism was ‘out of date’. In 1906 the Liberals had won 377 seats, but after the 1910 election they held only 275. The Unionists, by contrast, went up from 157 to 273. The balance of power was held by the eighty-two Irish and forty Labour MPS. Whatever lessons the result held for the Liberals, it was difficult to argue that it indicated public approval for extreme policies – or even moderate ones couched in extreme language. The part which he had played in the campaign strengthened Churchill’s already substantial claims to promotion, but Asquith did not find it easy to place him. He had wanted to offer Churchill the Admiralty in 1908, but as that post was held by Lord Tweedmouth, who was his uncle by marriage, Churchill had not pressed his claims. When Churchill had gone to the Board of Trade, Asquith had promised to ensure that he had the same status and salary as a Secretary of State, but an attempt to vote him the same salary had failed; now the time had come to make reparations.8 Writing to Churchill on 1 February 1910 Asquith offered him the post of Chief Secretary for Ireland. Given the Government’s dependence upon Irish votes, this would entail bringing in a Home Rule bill. But despite the obvious importance of the job, Churchill declined it. Before a Home Rule bill could be contemplated, it would be necessary to deal with the Lords, and Churchill wanted to be in the thick of the action, not waiting in the second rank. He told Asquith that he would prefer the Admiralty or the Home Office. Given Churchill’s role in the crisis over naval expenditure and McKenna’s touchiness about the subject, Asquith offered Churchill the Home Office.9


To become His Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State at the age of thirty-five was an achievement to gratify even the ambitions of Churchill. His claim to be one of the principal figures in the Cabinet had been formally recognised: only Sir Edward Grey and Lloyd George now stood ahead of him should the Prime Minister retire. He would certainly not overhaul either of them should a leader be required in the very near future, but he was a decade younger than his rivals; he could afford to wait. The prospect before him was an alluring one. In the meantime, his new position required the adoption of a certain amount of gravitas. Asquith delegated to Churchill the task of writing reports on Commons business to the King, a job which meant mastering the language of discretion. Moreover, the business of his office, which included the prison service, reviewing death sentences and dealing with public order, was less susceptible to the temptations of demagoguery.


These things would, in themselves, have drawn Churchill away from his radical preoccupations, but the direction taken by the constitutional crisis brought him up against the reality of what some of those on the left of politics wanted; here he found the limits of his own radicalism. Churchill had been able to accommodate himself happily to the shift towards social reform, which had been marked by Asquith’s succession to the Premiership, but the desire of some radicals to move towards a ‘wider goal of social reconstruction’10 marked the point at which his conservative instincts would let him go no further. The Times thought that Lloyd George’s budget, with its increase in taxes on land, had taken the doctrine of ‘social ransom’ to an extreme, whilst the Liberal Daily News described them as taxes on ‘surpluses and luxuries’.11 But at what point, however, did social reform become social redistribution? Churchill, who had no great liking for the budget itself, found the constitutional struggle which had been unleashed by its rejection disturbing. Before the election Mrs Webb had feared that in the event of a Conservative victory ‘the whole Liberal Party would become extremists’, and that Grey, Haldane and company would find themselves pushed aside: ‘political radicalism would finally be merged into economic collectivism’;12 the ‘Peers versus People’ crisis offered another means to that end.


The radicals wanted the Government to press ahead with abolishing the House of Lords. Its rearguard action had frustrated the Campbell-Bannerman administration and it was an obvious barrier to Home Rule for Ireland and a full-scale radical programme. In the aftermath of the January election Churchill was prepared to threaten the Lords with abolition, but he was willing to settle for an elected second chamber.13 In this he occupied a position mid-way between Lloyd George’s demands for an end to the House of Lords and Grey’s total opposition to the idea.14


Asquith’s greatest strength as Prime Minister was his ability to keep together his tempestuous colleagues by finding compromises, but there were times when his evasiveness in confronting issues was politically damaging. The revelation on 21 February that he had not, as he had implied during the election, secured a promise from the King to create more peers if necessary, was one such occasion. Liberal morale in the House and the country plummeted under the realisation that if the peers proved obstinate, there would have to be another election.15 Dependent as the election had left him on Irish and Labour votes, Asquith had to concede their demands that the veto powers of the House of Lords should be dealt with at once.16 Churchill stuck to his moderate position, but his main attention was directed elsewhere during the post-election period.


Churchill’s first priority as Home Secretary was to reform the prison system, to which end, following his usual pattern, he sought the advice of those who had views about how it might be made more humane. But he had scarcely begun to collect his information than he was faced by the beginnings of what was to become a wave of industrial unrest. A dispute between the Empire Transport Company and the dockers who unloaded their ships at Newport in South Wales degenerated into violence in May when the employers brought in ‘black-leg’ labour. At the Board of Trade it would have fallen to Churchill to act the part of conciliator, but at the Home Office it was his duty to maintain public order. This led to his authorising the despatch of 300 Metropolitan policemen to Newport. Churchill resisted the pressure on him to send troops and concentrated on ensuring that order was maintained and that the employers used the conciliation services of the Board of Trade. But in the next surge of unrest, in the coalfields of the Rhondda valley, matters were not so easily settled.


The dock-workers were only partly unionised and the very nature of their job, depending as it did upon the selection of ‘gangs’ by foremen, militated against the development of any esprit de corps; the same was not true of the Rhondda miners. Strikes by the Miners’ Union over pay and conditions resulted in a shutdown of the pits and, during the picketing which followed, there were confrontations between the police and the miners. The Chief Constable, fearing a breakdown of law and order, asked Whitehall whether troops could be despatched to the coalfields. Churchill saw no need for the employment of the military, a view shared by Haldane. But it transpired that troops had been sent on the night of the Chief Constable’s request by the general officer in command of the southern region. The two Ministers decided to keep the troops back and to follow the Newport precedent, sending in extra policemen from the Metropolitan force. But the incident provided Churchill with an example of why the Home Office has often been a thankless position to hold. On the one hand, The Times criticised him for interfering with the ‘arrangements demanded by the Chief Constable’ and employing the ‘rosewater of conciliation’. On the other side, the episode went down in labour demonology as the occasion upon which Churchill called the troops out at Tonypandy.17


Against this backdrop the manoeuvrings at Westminster seemed, perforce, somewhat artificial. The Unionists had rejected the budget and their gamble had not been sanctioned by the electorate; on the other hand, the Liberals could hardly claim to have been given a ringing endorsement. Asquith’s Irish allies were insisting on the abolition of the veto of the House of Lords as a condition of their support; this would clear the way for the introduction of a Home Rule bill. Thus it was that a ‘hung Parliament’ gave great power to the tail to wag the dog; it is ever thus. Asquith would have to have another election before Edward VII would consent to give promises about the creation of enough peers to ensure the passage of the Parliament Act, which would amend the power of the Lords; it was a long and bumpy road ahead. But so it was for the Unionists. Balfour was inclined to yield to the threats of the Liberals, but more radical Unionists wanted to take up the gauntlet and fight into the ‘last ditch’. Under pressure from their more hot-headed supporters, both Asquith and Balfour strove to maintain a ‘civilised’ detachment in a political climate which was becoming over-heated. The unexpected death of Edward VII in May 1910 and the accession of the inexperienced George v led to cries for a ‘truce of God’; it was one which Asquith and Balfour were glad to hear.


With the nation in mourning for ‘Edward the peacemaker’, arrangements were made to convene a constitutional conference at which Unionists and Liberals could attempt to find a solution to a political crisis which had seemed to be getting out of hand; between June and October the front-benchers searched for a way out.


The constitutional conference of the summer and early autumn of 1910 was barren of immediate political results, but it was pregnant with significance for the future. It proved impossible to find a mutually acceptable compromise on the issue of the House of Lords, but the most striking development during the conference was an initiative from Lloyd George. Neither Balfour, Asquith nor Lloyd George was anxious to see constitutional problems and Ireland dominate political life when there were great social and international issues which needed to be dealt with. Lloyd George put ‘two alternative sets of ideas’ – ‘winning ones’ – to Churchill on 25 September.18 One was to ‘form a coalition, settle the old outstanding questions, including Home Rule, and govern the country on middle lines which will be acceptable to both parties but providing measures of moderate social reform’. The other was ‘to formulate and carry through an advanced land and social reform policy’. Churchill plumped as unhesitatingly for the first as Clemmie did for the second.19 Knowing that men said that he had been heavily influenced by Lloyd George, Churchill once wrote that he thought that ‘sometimes I influenced him, and so to a large extent did … Balfour’; ‘we were able to show him the other side of the picture of politics which in his youth … he had never been called upon to think much about’.20 Lloyd George had certainly been attracted by Balfour’s ‘caressing charm’, but as his two ‘sets of ideas’ showed, ‘no policy was permanent, no pledge final’.21 Churchill was attracted by the idea of a ‘national government’, but took the view that ‘it is not for me to take the lead’.22 Given Unionist hostility to him as a traitor, and Liberal suspicion of him as an ‘eleventh-hour workman’, he was wise to be reticent. But he told Lloyd George that if the two of them stood together, they could give a ‘progressive character’ to the policy of a coalition – or, by their withdrawal, destroy it if it failed to live up to expectations.


It was characteristic of Churchill’s self-absorption that he did not stop to ask whether the Unionists would welcome him into any ‘national’ coalition. ‘Hatred’ is a strong word, too strong perhaps for the pallid emotions of politicians, for, as the coalition talks revealed, men who publicly denounce each other in language larded with insult may yet sit together to discuss matters of state – and the distribution of loaves and fishes; but in writing of Unionist feelings towards Churchill, it seems to be inescapable. One advantage which some Unionists perceived in the constitutional conference was that, if it prospered, ‘Lloyd George will not attack the Naval Estimates’. Churchill, however, was considered to be ‘implacable’.23 His statement in May that if the peers would not come to heel then the monarch and the people would have to ally against them caused great offence to Edward VII and, after his death, there was no lack of voices to say that it had been politicians like Churchill who had harried him to his end. As Lord Balcarres, a Unionist Whip, commented: ‘That Churchill is without conscience or scruple, without a glimmer of the comities of public reserve and deference, we all know, and all, even his closest friends, admit.’24 Churchill’s position was not an enviable one by the time of the December 1910 election. His erstwhile radical allies looked at him askance and remembered whence he had come, whilst Unionists regarded him with the hostility that must always pursue one regarded as a traitor.


Unionist opinion saw only the President of the Budget League, not the man who favoured the ‘national government’; it took Churchill’s rhetoric at face value. But with Churchill’s translation to the Home Office there were not wanting signs which indicated to those who had always looked for them that his attachment to Liberalism was less firm than it ought to be. At the Home Office Churchill was responsible for public order and it was a responsibility which he discharged with great seriousness; as he did so at a time of social unrest, his naturally conservative instincts rose to the surface. The myth of Churchill calling out the troops at Tonypandy was, like that of King Alfred burning the cakes, symbolically true; it epitomised an attitude. Churchill, like many Liberals, approved of extending benefits to a grateful working class, but when organised Labour exerted itself to demand its ‘rights’, he shared in the feeling that having helped to ‘uncork the bottle containing the djinn’, Ministers were now unable to control it.25 His reaction to unrest was that of the soldier: it must be stopped. Once it had been stopped he was prepared to be generous to defeated opponents – but only when they had been defeated. When, the week after Tonypandy, there was a huge demonstration by the suffragettes in London, it was broken up by the Metropolitan police with great brutality – policemen taking, so it was reported, particular delight in grabbing the demonstrators by their breasts. It seemed to be a sign that the new Home Secretary would brook no dissent. Of course Churchill was not to blame for the behaviour of the police, but he was censured all the same; his bellicose attitudes lent an easy credibility to such charges. That the Home Secretary liked a ‘scrap’ could hardly be doubted from the newspaper reports in early January 1911.


It says something for Churchill’s reputation that the most famous incident during his period at the Home Office was not his attempt at penal reform but rather his attendance at the ‘battle of Sidney Street’. On 3 January the police cornered an ‘anarchist gang’ at 100 Sidney Street in the East End; by late morning there were over two hundred policemen on the spot, many of them armed. It was too much for Churchill to resist and, disregarding his advisers, he took himself off to Sidney Street, impelled by ‘a strong sense of curiosity which perhaps it would have been as well to keep in check’.26 Newsreels captured what the press reported, namely a Churchill in Napoleonic vein – ‘moving restlessly hither and thither among the rather nervous and distraught police, a professional soldier among civilians’.27 With a Maxim gun called into action and a complement of over seven hundred policemen, Churchill made ready to assault the building – when it caught fire and burnt– to the ground. Later the charred bodies of two men were found inside, but no trace was discovered of the leading anarchist, ‘Peter the Painter’. The whole episode was faintly ludicrous. It provided acres of publicity, but Balfour summed up the view of the Establishment when he commented: ‘We are concerned to observe photographs in the illustrated newspapers of the Home Secretary in the danger zone. I understand what the photographer was doing, but why the Home Secretary?’


The episode seemed to epitomise Churchill’s defects. Egocentricity and boyish enthusiasm were all very well in their place, but that place was not in a responsible Minister of the Crown. Those who thought Churchill an interfering busy-body with an exaggerated sense of his own importance and a dangerous tendency to over-dramatise politics, found confirmation for their opinion. As Lloyd George put it, all politicians were ‘keen on success’ but most of them lacked what Churchill possessed in superabundance – ‘the Napoleonic idea’.28 To have such a man at the Home Office at a time of growing labour unrest, suffragette demonstrations and the threat of disorder in Ireland was something of a risk. Churchill’s duties came to weigh ‘heavily upon him’ and Lloyd George thought that ‘his position at the Home Office was gradually becoming intolerable to him’. Lloyd George and Asquith feared that, ‘being a soldier’, Churchill might ‘act in a thorough and drastic manner in the event of further labour troubles’, and within a year of appointing him Home Secretary, Asquith was looking for an opportunity to move him elsewhere.29


It was one thing for an elected government to challenge the powers of an unelected House of Lords, but quite another for workers to challenge the administration which was in the process of giving them so much; at least it was in Churchill’s mind. Like many conservative members of his class, Churchill was easily persuaded that the only way to deal with the growing wave of industrial unrest in 1911 was by a show of force. The long, hot summer that year saw railway and dock strikes at a time when Britain found herself within measurable distance of war with Germany. In Birkenhead and Liverpool the mayors, alarmed by the riots which accompanied the strikes, reported that a revolutionary situation was developing. Churchill, sanctioning the use of troops, was alarmed at the rash of ‘sympathy strikes’ and the possibility of a general strike. ‘A new force’, he told the King, ‘has arisen in trades unionism, whereby the power of the old leaders has proved quite ineffective.’30 Fortunately, the old skills of Lloyd George proved up to negotiating an end to the strikes. The spectacle of an alarmed and bellicose Churchill at the Home Office in such an inflammatory situation was not one which brought much comfort to either the Chancellor or the Prime Minister; but events had already suggested to Asquith a way out of a situation which could become dangerous.


As a Minister Churchill tended to become absorbed in the work of his own department; his rhetoric often preceded thought rather than contrariwise. At the Board of Trade he had thrown himself wholeheartedly into the cause of social reform. There he had appeared in the guise sanctioned by his father’s career – that of a sceptic of high naval spending. Thus it was that he had been aligned with Lloyd George and the ‘little Englanders’, but his assumptions were not theirs. All through the history of modern western civilisation there have been those who have held that war is morally wrong and that it is caused by arms races, profiteers and reactionary aristocrats. Men and women have held such views, sincerely failing to see that if there are fairies at the bottom of the garden, then they are heavily armed and have designs on their neighbour’s ass and ox; Churchill was never in their ranks. The bellicosity which he had shown in the face of challenges to public order at home was equally evident when the Kaiser seemed to challenge the international order.


The Liberals had come to power in the middle of a crisis over Morocco and it was this second crisis which was to be decisive in changing the direction of Churchill’s career. British support for French claims to a sphere of influence in Morocco was implicit in the Entente Cordiale of 1904. Lord Lansdowne, the Unionist Foreign Secretary, had meant the Entente to end Anglo-French hostility, but the Germans chose to interpret it as directed against themselves and had resolved to challenge it. When Grey had first become Foreign Secretary, he had been asked by the French Ambassador, Paul Cambon, one of the main architects of the Entente, whether France could rely upon the British in the event of German aggression. Grey’s reply was that he could not imagine that the British would stand aside.31 This was, strictly speaking, non-committal, but that was not how the French took it and the military talks which Grey sanctioned. As Harold Nicolson commented, ‘this perfected type of British parliamentarian did not attribute any but a purely technical and conditional importance to such conversations…. It cannot be expected that anyone not deeply imbued with the doctrines of parliamentary liberalism will understand this point of view.’32 The radical section of the Cabinet, which was thoroughly imbued with such doctrines, was saved from having any view on these things as they were not informed of them. Indeed, even Campbell-Bannerman seems to have been imperfectly acquainted with his Government’s foreign policy. In April 1907 on a visit to Paris, he startled his hosts by saying that he did not regard Britain as being in any way committed to help France in the event of a German attack. The British Ambassador, Sir Francis Bertie, put French minds at rest by telling them that the Prime Minister had not really meant what they had taken him to mean.33


But in 1911 when the Germans sent the gun-boat Panther to the Moroccan port of Agadir to pressurise the French, the whole question of Britain’s obligations came up again. Churchill, like other radicals, was surprised to learn of the Staff talks, but any indignation which he and Lloyd George might have been inclined to feel had this news been given to them earlier, was eclipsed by their reaction to German threats. A scholarly cottage-industry has grown up around the most public manifestation of Lloyd George’s reaction to the crisis, his speech on 21 July when he declared that he could not stand by and let Britain be treated as a negligible quantity in an area where her interests were vitally concerned. This was taken by contemporaries as a warning to the Germans; indeed, the latter were astonished by such a proclamation from such a source. Disregarding this, some later historians have alleged that the speech was really a warning to the French that they ought to compromise with the Germans; however, since no one at the time was clever enough to figure this out, it hardly matters, save as an illustration of why some people get irritated by historians.34


Lloyd George was, Balfour reported, ‘very bellicose, as I hear Churchill is also’. They were, he explained to his private secretary, Jack Sanders, ‘bellicose’ in the sense that they thought ‘war must come’ and that ‘now is the best time for fighting’. Lloyd George declared that if war did come, the Unionists ‘will have to join us’, thus showing, Balfour thought, that he had ‘not yet wholly given up his position of last November’.35 The Chancellor would soon lapse back into the tongue which he could assume at will, which implied a radical condemnation of the arms race; but the Home Secretary would not follow his example.


During the Agadir crisis Churchill had been told by the Chief Police Commissioner that the Home Office was responsible for the safety of the cordite reserves stored in magazines in London. Being Churchill, he immediately enquired into this and, discovering that the reserves were not properly guarded, he persuaded Haldane to release troops for this purpose.36 He was hardly more impressed by the attitude of the Admiralty as revealed at the important Committee of Imperial Defence (CID) meeting held on 23 August. The conversations which the British and French military had been having presupposed the despatch of a British expeditionary force to the Continent upon the outbreak of war, but McKenna did not seem very confident that this could be done speedily and without loss. Churchill, on the other hand, was a staunch supporter of the idea of an expeditionary force. He submitted a paper to the CID meeting outlining (with remarkable prescience) the likely course of the first few weeks of a major European war and showing why it was vital that Britain should intervene. He also proposed to Grey that they should enter into a Triple Alliance with France and Russia.37 Churchill’s instinctive aggressiveness in the face of challenges may have been a potential liability at the Home Office, but his performance at the CID meeting helped to convince Asquith that it could be converted into an asset at the Admiralty.


The Agadir crisis revealed a lack of consensus and co-ordination in British defence policy which worried the Prime Minister. At the CID meeting McKenna had made plain his dislike of the War Office plans and their implications for British foreign policy. Admiralty strategy was to defend the shipping lanes and mount small, amphibious attacks on Germany. The Admiralty war plans were firmly locked in the head of the First Sea Lord, Sir Arthur Wilson, whose hesitant and confused manner contrasted poorly with the self-assurance and confidence of General Sir Henry Wilson, who presented the Army case.38 Haldane, who took the view that ‘our problems of defence are too numerous and complex’ to be ‘locked in the brain of the First Sea Lord’, pressed for the creation of a ‘properly organised and scientifically based war staff’ for the Navy, which could co-operate with the Army’s General Staff. He threatened to resign if this was not done, and even offered to do the job himself.39 But Asquith preferred to appoint Churchill. The usual reasons given for the choice – that Churchill was in the Commons and that Haldane’s overt criticism of the Navy at the cid would have given offence to the Admiralty, are all valid, but they failed to go to the heart of the matter.40


In sending Churchill to the Admiralty, Asquith tilted the balance of power in the Cabinet towards a commitment to France. McKenna objected strenuously to the military conversations with France, and by replacing him with Churchill, who did not, Asquith ensured that Grey’s policy of supporting the Anglo-French Entente received much-needed reinforcement.41 Solid, white-haired and impressive in mien, Asquith was less decisive than he looked. As one of his Ministers observed, ‘He has little courage; he will adopt the views of A. with apparent conviction and enthusiasm, but if the drift of opinion is against A. he will find an easy method of throwing him over.’42 But it was not simply want of courage that afflicted Asquith. Any attempt to be clear about the exact nature of the French connection would probably have destroyed the Government by exposing the differences on the subject between Grey, Haldane and the radical element in the Cabinet; prevarication, which instinct provided, was what policy demanded.


At the Home Office Churchill had occupied a position which was still close to the main reforming drive of Asquith’s Government. He had been able to open the first labour exchanges and set in train improvements in the prison service. But at the Admiralty he was to find himself in a position inimical to the ‘new’ Liberalism which he had espoused since 1908. As one of the leaders of the attack on ‘bloated armaments’ in 1909, Churchill would be expected, by his radical adherents, to curb the rise in the naval estimates. Being in charge of the Admiralty or the War Office in a Liberal government was no sinecure, and as both Haldane and McKenna could bear witness, it was impossible to win much in the way of kudos. If expenditure increased, the radicals decried the Minister as the tool of the military; if it decreased, the Unionists would accuse him of being a traitor.


Churchill’s tremendous ability to concentrate upon the work of his office made him a formidable departmental Minister, but his faculty of beginning each job anew, without regard for previously expressed views, was to become a political liability the longer his career became. He was to demonstrate a damaging tendency to alienate former allies without winning new ones or even propitiating former enemies. The Spectator took the view that he had neither ‘the loyalty, the dignity, the steadfastness and the good sense which make an efficient head of a great office’ and that his love of the ‘limelight’ disqualified him from his post. Leo Maxse’s National Review took an even curter line, dismissing him as a ‘windbag’.43 The speed with which he was to turn his back on social reform aroused memories of his Tory antecedents. Long before the dramatic events of the Dardanelles fiasco, the way to political isolation was being signposted.
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